
 
   

 

 
  Date of Publication 17 January 2023 

Climate, Biodiversity & Planning  
Committee Meeting of Witney Town Council 
 

Tuesday, 24th January, 2023 at 6.00 pm 
 
To members of the Climate, Biodiversity & Planning Committee - R Smith, A Prosser, T Ashby, J Aitman, 
L Duncan, V Gwatkin and P Hiles (and all other Town Councillors for information).  
 

You are hereby summonsed to the above meeting to be held in the Gallery Room, The Corn Exchange, Witney 
for the transaction of the business stated in the agenda below.  
 

Admission to Meetings 
 

All Council meetings are open to the public and press unless otherwise stated. 
 

Numbers of the public will be limited, with priority given to those who have registered to speak on an item on 
the agenda. Any member of the public wishing to attend the meeting should contact the Committees Clerk 
derek.mackenzie@witney-tc.gov.uk in advance.  
 

 

Recording of Meetings 
 

Under the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 the council’s public meetings may be 
recorded, which includes filming, audio-recording as well as photography.  
 

As a matter of courtesy, if you intend to record any part of the proceedings please let the Town Clerk or 
Democratic Services Officer know before the start of the meeting. 
 

Agenda 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   

 To consider apologies and reasons for absence. 
 
Committee Members who are unable to attend the meeting should notify the Committee Clerk 
(derek.mackenzie@witney-tc.gov.uk) prior to the meeting, stating the reason for absence. 
 
Standing Order 309a)(v) permits the appointment of substitute Councillors to a Committee whose role 
is to replace ordinary Councillors at a meeting of a Committee if ordinary Councillors of the Committee 
have informed the Proper Officer before the meeting that they are unable to attend. 
 

2. Declarations of Interest   

 Members are reminded to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests in any of the items under 
consideration at this meeting in accordance with the Town Council’s code of conduct. 
 

3. Public Participation   

 The meeting will adjourn for this item. 
 
Members of the public may speak for a maximum of five minutes each during the period of public 
participation, in line with Standing Order 42.  Matters raised shall relate to the following items on the 
agenda. 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

mailto:derek.mackenzie@witney-tc.gov.uk
mailto:derek.mackenzie@witney-tc.gov.uk


 
 

Mrs Sharon Groth FSLCC fCMgr 
Town Clerk 
 

Cllr Liz Duncan 
Mayor of Witney 

Town Hall, Market Square 
Witney 
Oxon 
OX28 6AG 

T: 01993 704379 
E: info@witney-tc.gov.uk 
 

w: www.witney-tc.gov.uk 

 

4. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 20) 

 a) To adopt and sign as correct the minutes of the committee held on 15 November, 6 December 2022, 
and 3 January 2023.  
 
b) Matters arising from the minutes of 15 November, 6 December 2022, and 3 January 2023. 
 

5. Planning Applications  (Pages 21 - 24) 

 To receive and consider a schedule of Planning Applications from West Oxfordshire District Council. 
 

6. Planning Decisions  (Pages 25 - 28) 

 To receive and consider a schedule of planning decisions from West Oxfordshire District Council. 
 

7. Planning Appeal Decision Notification - 13 Willowbank, Witney  (Pages 29 - 32) 

 To receive appeal decision notification APP/D3125/W/22/3299642 
 

8. Planning Appeal Decision Notification - Land at Witney Road, Ducklington, Oxfordshire  (Pages 33 - 
56) 

 To receive appeal decision notification APP/D3125/W/22/3297487. 
 

9. West Oxfordshire District Council Validation for Planning Applications  (Pages 57 - 58) 

 To receive information from the Local Planning Authority regarding an updated checklist for validating 
planning applications. Effective 1st February 2023. 
 

10. Notice of Definitive Map Notice of landowner deposit  (Pages 59 - 64) 

 To receive correspondence from Oxfordshire County Council, deferred to this Committee from the Full 
Council meeting on 10 October 2022. 
 

11. Licensing Application Consultation - W/22/01158/PAVLIC - The Corn Exchange, Market Square  
(Pages 65 - 72) 

 To note the Pavement Licence Application W/22/01158/PAVLIC for The Corn Exchange, Market Square. 
 

12. A Petition to Government to Protect the Swift Population  (Pages 73 - 76) 

 To consider responding to the petition to government “Make swift bricks compulsory in new housing 
to help red-listed birds”. 
https://petition.parliament.uk/petitions/626737 
 

 
 
 

 
Town Clerk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 2

mailto:info@witney-tc.gov.uk
https://petition.parliament.uk/petitions/626737


 
1 

 

CLIMATE, BIODIVERSITY & PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING OF THE 
WITNEY TOWN COUNCIL 

 
Held on Tuesday, 15 November 2022 

 
At 6.00 pm in the Gallery Room, The Corn Exchange, Witney 

 
Present: 

 
Councillor R Smith (Chair) 

 
Councillors: A Prosser 

T Ashby 
J Aitman 
 

L Duncan 
V Gwatkin 
P Hiles 
 

Officers: Adam Clapton Deputy Town Clerk 
 Claire Green Administration Support - Planning & 

Stronger Communities 
 Sharon Groth Town Clerk 
 Derek Mackenzie Senior Administrative Officer & 

Committee Clerk 
 Carl Whitehead Park Ranger 

 
Others: None 

  
 

 
P579   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 

P580   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest from members or officers. 
 

P581   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
There was no public participation. 
 

P582   UPDATE FROM PARK RANGER 
 
With the express permission of the Chair, agenda items 7,9 and 10 were brought up the agenda. 
 
The Committee received the report and verbal update of the Park Ranger.  

 
Members thanked the Park Ranger for the work he has carried out in the past few months since 
joining the council. 
 
Members heard about the various projects outlined in the report and the Ranger was able to 
provide proposed costings for each. 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



Climate, Biodiversity & Planning - 15 November 2022 

 
2 

Members were all in agreement with the projects to add wildflowers to the two roundabouts 
either end of Curbridge Road, the engagement of Oxford Brookes University students to carry 
out Invertebrate studies, the plan to apply for Local Nature Reserve recognition, improvements 
to the river and lake banks as well as the potential introduction of events at the country park 
such as QR codes with visitor and nature information and establishing Geocache locations. 
Approximate costings were provided, and it was agreed the items should be undertaken in a 
phased approach throughout the year. 
 
The Committee discussed the establishment of a Forest School however they were concerned 
about possible vandalism, but the Ranger confirmed that most of the equipment such as cooking 
equipment and ropes are brought in for each session, so little would be left on site. The site 
would be accessible to all originations and would re-purpose the area that was previously used 
by the Wild Witney Group. All Members agreed for this to be established. 
 
Resolved: 
 

1. That, the report and verbal update be noted and, 
2. That, the projects suggested by the Park Ranger should proceed and,. 
3. That, un-funded items should be included in the 2023/24 budget. 

 
 

P583   FINANCE REPORT: REVISED REVENUE BUDGET 2022/23 AND DRAFT BASE REVENUE BUDGET 
FOR 2023/24 
 
The Committee received and considered the report of the Town Clerk/CEO updating on budget 
spending to date for 2022/23 and items for the 2023/24 draft budget. 

 
Members discussed  budget item 4918/800 - Building Energy Efficiency, and agreed  technical 
consultees should be engaged, and reports produced so that the council could create building 
energy actions plans and be in the best position to make any grant applications that arise. It was 
advised that grant applications usually have short deadlines to be met and having the reports in 
hand will assist with the process. The Committee also requested that the £20,000 set aside is 
rolled over to 2023/24. 
 
The Committee also agreed to rollover the remaining earmarked reserves of £30,000 for Burwell 
Heating System (372) and £29,200 for Electric Vehicles (370). Members requested that an 
additional £15,000 is budgeted for Electrical Vehicle and £30,000 for Climate Emergency. 
 
Resolved: 
 

1. That, the report be noted and, 
2. That, energy audit reports are commissioned for the councils’ buildings and, 
3. That, the earmarked reserves are rolled over as stated and, 
4. That, additional funds are budgeted for Electrical Vehicles and Climate Emergency 

 
P584   REVENUE GROWTH ITEMS, SPECIAL REVENUE PROJECTS AND CAPITAL PROJECTS 

 
The Committee received the report of the Town Clerk/CEO. 

 
Members, having considered the various projects that the Park Ranger had proposed, and the 
costs associated with their implementation were pleased that many only had a small capital 
cost, the substantive one being that of the time of the Ranger and the maintenance team. 

Page 4



Climate, Biodiversity & Planning - 15 November 2022 

 
3 

 
The Committee discussed the cost of surveys that the Park Ranger required to allow him to apply 
for both the Local Nature Reserve (LNR) accreditation and future potential grant applications. 
These four or five surveys were estimated to cost approx. £5,000 in total and would need to be 
carried out around May 2023 as this is when wildlife and plant life is active. Members requested 
this is added to the draft budget as a priority. 
 
Resolved: 
 

1. That, the report be noted and, 
2. That, the projects suggested by the Park Ranger proceed and, 
3. That, £5,000 is budgeted for the commissioning of reports to assist in the LNR 

accreditation and future grant applications. 
 

The Town Clerk left the meeting at 19:11pm 
 

P585   PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 
The Committee received and considered a schedule of planning applications from West 
Oxfordshire District Council. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the comments, as per the attached schedule, be forwarded to West Oxfordshire District 
Council. 
 

Councillor T Ashby left the meeting at 19:20pm 
 

P586   MINUTES 
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Climate Biodiversity & Planning Committee meetings held on 
27 September, 4 October, and 25 October 2022 were received. 

 
Resolved: 
 
That, the minutes of the Climate Biodiversity & Planning Committee meetings held on 27 
September. 4 October and 25 October 2022 be approved as a correct record and be signed by 
the Chair. 
 

P587   PLANNING DECISIONS 
 
The Committee received and considered a schedule of planning decisions received from West 
Oxfordshire District Council (WODC)  

 
The Committee noted that the application for 21 Stanton Harcourt Road was refused by 
planning officers on conservation issues and its dominant appearance in the existing street scene 
grounds. Also, the application for 2 Jacobs Close was refused by planning officers on the grounds 
of its visual appearance within the existing street scene. 
 
Resolved:  
 
That, the list circulated advising of District Council planning decisions be noted. 

Page 5



Climate, Biodiversity & Planning - 15 November 2022 

 
4 

 
P588   WITNEY TRAFFIC ADVISORY COMMITTEE MINUTES - 27 SEPTEMBER 2022 

 
The Committee received the minutes of the Witney Traffic Advisory Committee held on 27 
September 2022.  

 
The Deputy Town Clerk gave an update on minute item T46 to say that due to the number of 
objections to the scheme it is likely not to proceed. This would release around £5,000 of funds 
pledged by the town council. 
 
Resolved: 
 

1. That, the minutes of the Witney Traffic Advisory Committee held on 27 September be 
noted and,  

2. That, the verbal update of the Deputy Town Clerk be noted. 

 
 
 
 

The meeting closed at: 7.40 pm 

 
Chair 

Page 6



1



Witney Town Council



Planning Minutes - 15th November 2022



P585



P585- 1

 WTC/150/22

 Plot Ref :-

22/02792/HHD

 Type :- 

 HOUSEHOLDE



Applicant Name :-

 .

 Date Received :-

 21/10/2022



Location :-

 9 HAZEL CLOSE

 Date Returned :-

 16/11/2022


HAZEL CLOSE



Proposal :

 Conversion of existing garage to create home office.



Observations :

 While Witney Town Council does not object to this application in terms of 


material concerns, it notes the loss of a large area of permeable drainage to 


accommodate the two new parking spaces. Members ask that mitigating 


measures are considered, including the use of permeable surface treatment, to 


help decrease the possibility of surface water flooding in this area, in 


accordance with policy EH7 of the West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031.



Further, given the 'Home Office' use, as labelled on the Ground Floor Proposed 


Plans, Members ask that a planning condition be considered that ensures the 


development is limited to use ancillary to the dwelling, and not be used for 


business purposes. Given the residential setting, the Council ask that the 


development complies with policy OS2, and that the proposal be compatible 


with adjoining uses and not have a harmful impact on the amenity of existing 


occupants.



P585- 2

 WTC/151/22

 Plot Ref :-

22/02846/FUL

 Type :- 

 FULL



Applicant Name :-

 .

 Date Received :-

 21/10/2022



Location :-

 ELIM PENTECOSTAL CHURCH

 Date Returned :-

 16/11/2022


WEST END



Proposal :

 Conversion of former chapel to form 1 residential dwelling together with 


associated works.



Observations :

 Witney Town Council has no objections regarding this application.



P585- 3

 WTC/152/22

 Plot Ref :-

22/02855/HHD

 Type :- 

 HOUSEHOLDE



Applicant Name :-

 .

 Date Received :-

 21/10/2022



Location :-

 17 CURBRIDGE ROAD

 Date Returned :-

 16/11/2022


CURBRIDGE ROAD



Proposal :

 Alterations to roof to allow for loft conversion together with Installation of solar 


panels and erection of single storey infill extension with external insulation and 


render.



Observations :

 While Witney Town Council does not object to this application in terms of 


material concerns, it notes the loss of permeable drainage and would ask that 


mitigating measures are considered to help decrease the possibility of surface 


water flooding in this area, in accordance with policy EH7 of the West 


Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031.



Page No  4



Page 7



P585- 4

 WTC/153/22

 Plot Ref :-

22/02853/FUL

 Type :- 

 FULL



Applicant Name :-

 .

 Date Received :-

 25/10/2022



Location :-

 46A MARKET SQUARE

 Date Returned :-

 16/11/2022


MARKET SQUARE



Proposal :

 Renovation and refurbishment of existing outbuilding and extension to create a 


one and half storey three bedroom house with associated amenity area and two 


car parking spaces.



Observations :

 Witney Town Council note the comments from the technical consultees for this 


application, and are happy to support the proposal if the recommendations from 


those consultees are met. Particular attention should be paid to the SUDS 


strategy and suggested planning conditions from the Drainage Officer, and 


members request that all these recommendations are included should the 


application be approved.  



P585- 5

 WTC/154/22

 Plot Ref :-

22/02854/LBC

 Type :- 

 LISTED BUI



Applicant Name :-

 .

 Date Received :-

 25/10/2022



Location :-

 46A MARKET SQUARE

 Date Returned :-

 16/11/2022


MARKET SQUARE



Proposal :

 Internal and external alterations to renovate and refurbish existing outbuilding 


and extension to create a one and half storey three bedroom house with 


associated amenity area and two car parking spaces.



Observations :

 Witney Town Council note the comments from the technical consultees for this 


application, and are happy to support the proposal if the recommendations from 


those consultees are met. Particular attention should be paid to the SUDS 


strategy and suggested planning conditions from the Drainage Officer, and 


members request that all these recommendations are included should the 


application be approved.  



P585- 6

 WTC/155/22

 Plot Ref :-

22/02493/HHD

 Type :- 

 HOUSEHOLDE



Applicant Name :-

 .

 Date Received :-

 03/11/2022



Location :-

 16 EARLY ROAD

 Date Returned :-

 16/11/2022


EARLY ROAD



Proposal :

 Alterations to include construction of an entrance porch, erection of a single 


storey rear extension and a side and front extension, in place of an existing 


garage. Associated external works to create additional off-street parking and 


widening of dropped kerb. (Amendment to existing approval ref: 22/01601/HHD).



Observations :

 While Witney Town Council does not object to this application in terms of 


material concerns, it notes the loss of permeable drainage and would ask that 


mitigating measures are considered to help decrease the possibility of surface 


water flooding in this area, in accordance with policy EH7 of the West 


Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031.



P585- 7

 WTC/156/22

 Plot Ref :-

22/02752/FUL

 Type :- 

 FULL



Applicant Name :-

 .

 Date Received :-

 03/11/2022



Location :-

 NEWLAND INDUSTRIAL ESTATE

 Date Returned :-

 16/11/2022


154 NEWLAND



Proposal :

 Replacement of existing garage units with storage containers.



Observations :

 While Witney Town Council does not object to this application, Members 


discussed the impact for nearby residents during any building works. Members 


questioned whether an Asbestos Management Strategy may be required, and 


ask that the Officer check whether it can be included as a planning condition, 



Page No  5



Page 8



and that a Construction Management Plan be agreed for the duration of the 


works.



Witney Town Council note that there is currently no Biodiversity gain on site 


included within this application, members strongly encourage the applicant to 


include Biodiversity Net Gain and that this be required by condition.



P585- 8

 WTC/157/22

 Plot Ref :-

22/02955/HHD

 Type :- 

 HOUSEHOLDE



Applicant Name :-

 .

 Date Received :-

 03/11/2022



Location :-

 174 MANOR ROAD

 Date Returned :-

 16/11/2022


MANOR ROAD



Proposal :

 Erection of single storey front and rear extensions, two storey side extension 


and new external chimney.



Observations :

 While Witney Town Council does not object to this application in terms of 


extending the dwelling, Councillors expressed concerns about a potential loss 


of the footpath. The submitted drawings do not clearly show whether the 


proposed development compromises the current footpath arrangement. Given 


the proximity of the footpath to the application site, Witney Town Council 


request that adequate consultation be sought from the relevant Highways 


Authority.



Further, Witney Town Council notes the loss of permeable drainage and would 


ask that mitigating measures are considered to help decrease the possibility of 


surface water flooding in this area, in accordance with policy EH7 of the West 


Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031.



P585- 9

 WTC/158/22

 Plot Ref :-

22/02816/HHD

 Type :- 

 HOUSEHOLDE



Applicant Name :-

 .

 Date Received :-

 08/11/2022



Location :-

 93 WATERFORD ROAD

 Date Returned :-

 16/11/2022


WATERFORD ROAD



Proposal :

 Erection of a single storey rear extension.



Observations :

 While Witney Town Council does not object to this application in terms of 


material concerns, it notes the loss of permeable drainage and would ask that 


mitigating measures are considered to help decrease the possibility of surface 


water flooding in this area, in accordance with policy EH7 of the West 


Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031.



The Meeting closed at :  7.40pm



Signed : 

 Date:

Chairman



On behalf of :- 

 Witney Town Council



Page No  6



Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 
1 

 

CLIMATE, BIODIVERSITY & PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING OF THE 
WITNEY TOWN COUNCIL 

 
Held on Tuesday, 6 December 2022 

 
At 6.00 pm in the Virtual Meeting Room via Zoom 

 
Present: 

 
Councillor R Smith (Chair) 

 
Councillors: A Prosser 

T Ashby 
L Duncan 
 

V Gwatkin 
P Hiles 
 

Officers: Adam Clapton Deputy Town Clerk 
 Derek Mackenzie Senior Administrative Officer & 

Committee Clerk 
 Claire Green Administration Support - Planning & 

Stronger Communities 
 

Others: One Member of the Public  
 

 
P636   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
An apology for absence was received from Councillor J Aitman. 
 

P637   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest from members or officers. 
 

P638   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
The Committee adjourned for this item. 

 
A resident of Horton-Cum-Studley addressed the committee regarding Agenda item 7 – Botley 
West Solar Farm. 
 
The meeting reconvened for planning applications to be considered. 
 

P639   PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 
The Committee received and considered a schedule of planning applications from West 
Oxfordshire District Council.  

 
Resolved:  
 
That the comments, as per the attached schedule, be forwarded to West Oxfordshire District 
Council. 
 

Page 11



Climate, Biodiversity & Planning - 6 December 2022 

 
2 

P640   WINDRUSH INDUSTRIAL PARK - ROAD NAMING 
 
The Committee received correspondence from West Oxfordshire District Council’s address 
management team which had already been circulated. 

 
Members confirmed there were no objections to the proposed name of “The Gateway”. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That, the correspondence be noted. 
 

P641   REAR OF 37 CORN STREET - ROAD NAMING 
 
The Committee received correspondence from West Oxfordshire District Council’s address 
management team. 

 
Members had no objections to the proposed name of “Olive Court”. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That, the correspondence be noted. 
 
Councillor T Ashby Left 18:47pm (During Agenda Item 7) 
 

P642   BOTLEY WEST SOLAR FARM - PUBLIC CONSULTATION 
 
The Committee intently discussed the proposal submitted for which a public consultation was 
open until 15 December 2022.  

 
Members acknowledged that the proposed sites were to the East of Witney, however, effects 
would still be felt within the parish, most notably on resident access to the countryside and the 
local biodiversity. Members were most concerned about the Ecology, landscape and visual 
impact that a development of this size and scale would have in West Oxfordshire now and in the 
future 
 
Members expressed dissatisfaction at the level of community gain in terms of local energy and 
financial contributions to mitigate the creation of the farm if it went ahead. The scheme was 
opportunistic rather than as part of a national plan looking at the bigger picture and the need for 
such a large-scale solar farm when evaluated next to other Government-backed energy 
alternatives did not appear to be demonstrated. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That, Members comments, including those above be submitted  via the public consultation 
feedback form. 
 
 
 

The meeting closed at: 7.42 pm 

 
Chair 

Page 12



1



Witney Town Council



Planning Minutes - 6th December 2022



636



636- 1

 WTC/159/22

 Plot Ref :-

22/02953/FUL

 Type :- 

 FULL



Applicant Name :-

 .

 Date Received :-

 16/11/2022



Location :-

 1 FRENCH CLOSE

 Date Returned :-

 07/12/2022


FRENCH CLOSE



Proposal :

 Two storey extension of existing dwelling and subdivision to create two 


dwellings.



Observations :

 Members discussed the design of the proposal and raised concerns that the 


changing roofline as reflected in the elevations is not aesthetically pleasing, and 


whether this design can be improved. Further, members expressed concern 


about the loss of a large amount of permeable area and ask that mitigating 


measures are considered to help decrease the possibility of surface water 


flooding in this area - in accordance with policy EH7 of the West Oxfordshire 


Local Plan 2031.



636- 2

 WTC/160/22

 Plot Ref :-

22/02976/S73

 Type :- 

 VARIATION



Applicant Name :-

 .

 Date Received :-

 16/11/2022



Location :-

 73 HIGH STREET

 Date Returned :-

 07/12/2022


HIGH STREET



Proposal :

 Removal of condition 4 of permission 20/01766/FUL to allow proposed drainage 


plan.



Observations :

 Witney Town Council object to this application for removal of the planning 


condition. Members are disappointed that the planned soakaway is no longer 


included in the proposal and that no alternative provision is suggested to keep 


surface water out of sewerage networks. Members object to development which 


impacts the existing network.



636- 3

 WTC/161/22

 Plot Ref :-

22/02932/ADV

 Type :- 

 ADVERTISIN



Applicant Name :-

 .

 Date Received :-

 22/11/2022



Location :-

 WITNEY SERVICES

 Date Returned :-

 07/12/2022


STATION LANE



Proposal :

 Erection of two replacement Illuminated Pylon Signs.



Observations :

 Witney Town Council has no objections regarding this application.



636- 4

 WTC/162/22

 Plot Ref :-

22/03125/FUL

 Type :- 

 FULL



Applicant Name :-

 .

 Date Received :-

 22/11/2022



Location :-

 4 WITAN PARK INDUSTRIAL 

 Date Returned :-

 07/12/2022


ESTATE


WITAN PARK INDUSTRIAL 


ESTATE



Proposal :

 Change of use from class E (Offices) to class B (storage and distribution) along 


with alterations to fenestration.



Observations :

 Witney Town Council has no objections regarding this application.



Page No  3



Page 13



636- 5

 WTC/163/22

 Plot Ref :-

22/03142/FUL

 Type :- 

 FULL



Applicant Name :-

 .

 Date Received :-

 23/11/2022



Location :-

 WITNEY SERVICE STATION

 Date Returned :-

 07/12/2022


WELCH WAY



Proposal :

 Demolition of existing portable cabin and the creation of a charging zone 


comprising of the erection of EV chargers with EV canopy over and associated 


forecourt works. Change of use of land to allow siting of sub-station enclosure.



Observations :

 Witney Town Council object to this application in its current form. Members 


discussed the issues raised by Environmental Health, and echo the concerns 


regarding the proximity of the proposal to the neighbouring residential area. This 


proposal should not be approved until all regulatory requirements are explored 


and met. Further, Members note the issues raised by the arboricultural impact 


assessment and object to the proposal causing harm to trees on the site and 


trees at neighbouring properties.



However, Witney Town Council welcome the principle of EV Charging point 


installations for the town and look forward to a revised application which 


addresses the concerns raised above.



636- 6

 WTC/164/22

 Plot Ref :-

22/03158/S73

 Type :- 

 VARIATION



Applicant Name :-

 .

 Date Received :-

 23/11/2022



Location :-

 124 CORN STREET

 Date Returned :-

 07/12/2022


CORN STREET



Proposal :

 Removal of condition 3 of planning permission 15/02242/FUL to allow the 


annexe to be used as a separate dwelling.



Observations :

 Witney Town Council object to the removal of the planning condition. The 


annexe, if made a separate dwelling, does not comprise sufficient amenity 


space for an acceptable level of quality of living.



636- 7

 WTC/165/22

 Plot Ref :-

22/03156/HHD

 Type :- 

 HOUSEHOLDE



Applicant Name :-

 .

 Date Received :-

 23/11/2022



Location :-

 11 BROADWAY CLOSE

 Date Returned :-

 07/12/2022


BROADWAY CLOSE



Proposal :

 Erection of single storey rear extension to form study/bedroom and shower 


room.



Observations :

 Witney Town Council has no objections regarding this application.



636- 8

 WTC/166/22

 Plot Ref :-

22/02891/LBC

 Type :- 

 LISTED BUI



Applicant Name :-

 .

 Date Received :-

 23/11/2022



Location :-

 36 WEST END

 Date Returned :-

 07/12/2022


WEST END


WITNEY



Proposal :

 Internal and external alterations to replace the doors to the front and rear of 


dwelling.



Observations :

 Witney Town Council has no objections regarding this application.



Page No  4



Page 14



636- 9

 WTC/167/22

 Plot Ref :-

22/03163/HHD

 Type :- 

 HOUSEHOLDE



Applicant Name :-

 .

 Date Received :-

 28/11/2022



Location :-

 107 BURFORD ROAD

 Date Returned :-

 07/12/2022


BURFORD ROAD


WITNEY



Proposal :

 Erection of a two storey side and replacement single storey rear extension with 


roof mounted solar panels. Construction of a detached garage to replace 


existing carport.



Observations :

 Members discussed the value of the existing trees on the site and ask that the 


development does not have any harmful impact on the existing trees. Further, 


should the proposal be approved, the tree roots are protected during the 


construction. Otherwise, Witney Town Council have no objection to this 


proposal.



The Meeting closed at :  7:42pm



Signed : 

 Date:

Chairman



On behalf of :- 

 Witney Town Council



Page No  5



Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



 
1 

 

CLIMATE, BIODIVERSITY & PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING OF THE 
WITNEY TOWN COUNCIL 

 
Held on Tuesday, 3 January 2023 

 
At 6.00 pm in the Virtual Meeting Room via Zoom 

 
Present: 

 
Councillor R Smith (Chair) 

 
Councillors: A Prosser 

J Aitman 
 

L Duncan 
P Hiles 
 

Officers: Adam Clapton Deputy Town Clerk 
 Derek Mackenzie Senior Administrative Officer & 

Committee Clerk 
 Claire Green Administration Support - Planning & 

Stronger Communities 
 

Others: None. 
  
 

 
P1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
A retrospective apology for absence was received from Councillor T Ashby 
 

P2   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest from members or officers. 
 

P3   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
There was no public participation. 
 

P4   PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 
The Committee received and considered a schedule of planning applications from West 
Oxfordshire District Council. 

 
Resolved: 
 
That, the comments, as per the attached schedule, be forwarded to West Oxfordshire District 
Council 
 

P5   PLANNING APPEAL DECISIONS 
 
The Committee received notice of planning appeals: 
 
APP/D3125/W/21/3288456 – 35-37 Woodgreen, Witney 

Page 17



Climate, Biodiversity & Planning - 3 January 2023 

 
2 

APP/D3125/Y/21/3288457 – 35-37 Woodgreen, Witney 
APP/D3125/C/22/3295084 – 17 Ashcombe Close, Witney 
APP/D3125/W/22/3291279 – 2 Springfield Park, Witney 

 
Resolved: 
 
That, the planning appeals be noted. 
 

P6   LICENSING APPLICATION CONSULTATION W/22/01475/PAVLIC - COSTA, WELCH WAY 
 

The Committee, given the short statutory timescale to respond, received documents 
electronically on 15 December 2022 for their consideration.  
 
Resolved:  
 
That, a no objection response was submitted on 20 December 2022. 
 
 
 

The meeting closed at: 6.20pm 

 
Chair 

Page 18



1



Witney Town Council



Planning Minutes - 3rd January 2023



1



1- 1

 WTC/001/23

 Plot Ref :-

22/03194/HHD

 Type :- 

 HOUSEHOLDE



Applicant Name :-

 .

 Date Received :-

 06/12/2022



Location :-

 43 BURFORD ROAD

 Date Returned :-

 04/01/2023


BURFORD ROAD



Proposal :

 Demolition of existing garage. Erection of two storey side and single storey rear 


extensions. Conversion of loft space with insertion of new windows.



Observations :

 While Witney Town Council does not object to this application in terms of 


material concerns, it notes the loss of permeable drainage and would ask that 


mitigating measures are considered to help decrease the possibility of surface 


water flooding in this area, in accordance with policy EH7 of the West 


Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031.



1- 2

 WTC/002/23

 Plot Ref :-

22/03313/HHD

 Type :- 

 HOUSEHOLDE



Applicant Name :-

 .

 Date Received :-

 14/12/2022



Location :-

 21 STANTON HARCOURT ROAD

 Date Returned :-

 04/01/2023


STANTON HARCOURT ROAD



Proposal :

 Proposed first floor extension over existing side extension and front side single 


storey extension with a lean-to.



Observations :

 While Witney Town Council does not object to this application in terms of 


material concerns, it notes the loss of permeable drainage and would ask that 


mitigating measures are considered to help decrease the possibility of surface 


water flooding in this area, in accordance with policy EH7 of the West 


Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031.



1- 3

 WTC/003/23

 Plot Ref :-

22/03343/HHD

 Type :- 

 HOUSEHOLDE



Applicant Name :-

 .

 Date Received :-

 21/12/2022



Location :-

 2 SCHOFIELD AVENUE

 Date Returned :-

 04/01/2023


SCHOFIELD AVENUE



Proposal :

 Proposed single storey flat roof rear extension



Observations :

 Witney Town Council has no objections regarding this application.



1- 4

 WTC/004/23

 Plot Ref :-

22/03410/HHD

 Type :- 

 HOUSEHOLDE



Applicant Name :-

 .

 Date Received :-

 21/12/2022



Location :-

 30 TOWNSEND ROAD

 Date Returned :-

 04/01/2023


TOWNSEND ROAD



Proposal :

 Single storey rear extension.



Observations :

 While Witney Town Council does not object to this application in terms of 


material concerns, it notes the loss of permeable drainage and would ask that 


mitigating measures are considered to help decrease the possibility of surface 


water flooding in this area, in accordance with policy EH7 of the West 


Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031.



Page No  3



Page 19



1- 5

 WTC/005/23

 Plot Ref :-

22/03390/HHD

 Type :- 

 HOUSEHOLDE



Applicant Name :-

 .

 Date Received :-

 21/12/2022



Location :-

 2 STANWAY CLOSE

 Date Returned :-

 04/01/2023


STANWAY CLOSE



Proposal :

 Single story rear extension.



Observations :

 While Witney Town Council does not object to this application in terms of 


material concerns, it notes the loss of permeable drainage and would ask that 


mitigating measures are considered to help decrease the possibility of surface 


water flooding in this area, in accordance with policy EH7 of the West 


Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031.



1- 6

 WTC/006/23

 Plot Ref :-

22/03406/HHD

 Type :- 

 HOUSEHOLDE



Applicant Name :-

 .

 Date Received :-

 21/12/2022



Location :-

 25 WOODFORD MILL

 Date Returned :-

 04/01/2023


WOODFORD MILL


MILL STREET



Proposal :

 Erection of a Shed.



Observations :

 Witney Town Council has no objections regarding this application.



The Meeting closed at :  6:20pm



Signed : 

 Date:

Chairman



On behalf of :- 

 Witney Town Council



Page No  4



Page 20



1



Witney Town Council



Climate, Biodiversity & Planning  24.01.23



5



Plot Ref :-

 22/03416/HHD

 Type :-

 HOUSEHOL

5 . 1

 WTC/007/23



Applicant Name :- 

 .

 Date Received :- 

 03/01/2023


WEST

 Date Returned :- 

Parish :-



Location :-

 38 WINFIELD DRIVE

 Agent


WINFIELD DRIVE



Proposals :- 

 Single storey rear extension and loft conversion.



Observations :-



Plot Ref :-

 22/03354/FUL

 Type :-

 FULL

5 . 2

 WTC/008/23



Applicant Name :- 

 .

 Date Received :- 

 03/01/2023


SOUTH

 Date Returned :- 

Parish :-



Location :-

 14 CHURCH GREEN

 Agent


CHURCH GREEN



Proposals :- 

 Alteration to front door entrance to form disabled ramp for 


improvement to office use to the building.



Observations :-



Plot Ref :-

 22/03452/HHD

 Type :-

 HOUSEHOL

5 . 3

 WTC/009/23



Applicant Name :- 

 .

 Date Received :- 

 03/01/2023


SOUTH

 Date Returned :- 

Parish :-



Location :-

 42 THE CROFTS

 Agent


THE CROFTS



Proposals :- 

 Removal of existing small kitchen extension, addition of a rear 


single storey extension and addition of a loft dormer on rear roof 


pitch.



Observations :-



Plot Ref :-

 22/03251/HHD

 Type :-

 HOUSEHOL

5 . 4

 WTC/010/23



Applicant Name :- 

 .

 Date Received :- 

 09/01/2023


NORTH

 Date Returned :- 

Parish :-



Location :-

 15 WESTFIELD ROAD

 Agent


WESTFIELD ROAD



Proposals :- 

 Erection of a single-storey rear extension and widening of dropped 


kerb.



Observations :-



Page  1



Page 21

Agenda Item 5



Plot Ref :-

 22/03468/LBC

 Type :-

 LISTED BUI

5 . 5

 WTC/011/23



Applicant Name :- 

 .

 Date Received :- 

 11/01/2023


NORTH

 Date Returned :- 

Parish :-



Location :-

 WITNEY HOUSE

 Agent


17 WEST END


WEST END



Proposals :- 

 Internal and external alterations to carry out refurbishment works to 


first floor bedroom, bathroom and landing windows together with 


associated stone work repair.



Observations :-



Plot Ref :-

 22/03510/HHD

 Type :-

 HOUSEHOL

5 . 6

 WTC/012/23



Applicant Name :- 

 .

 Date Received :- 

 11/01/2023


NORTH

 Date Returned :- 

Parish :-



Location :-

 34 SCHOFIELD AVENUE

 Agent


SCHOFIELD AVENUE



Proposals :- 

 Erection of a two storey rear extension.



Observations :-



Plot Ref :-

 22/03516/HHD

 Type :-

 HOUSEHOL

5 . 7

 WTC/013/23



Applicant Name :- 

 .

 Date Received :- 

 11/01/2023


EAST

 Date Returned :- 

Parish :-



Location :-

 PRIORY HOUSE

 Agent


CHURCH LANE



Proposals :- 

 Erection of single storey side extension.



Observations :-



Plot Ref :-

 22/03517/LBC

 Type :-

 LISTED BUI

5 . 8

 WTC/014/23



Applicant Name :- 

 .

 Date Received :- 

 11/01/2023


EAST

 Date Returned :- 

Parish :-



Location :-

 PRIORY HOUSE

 Agent


CHURCH LANE



Proposals :- 

 Internal and external alterations to include erection of single storey 


side extension and secondary glazing to windows.



Observations :-



Plot Ref :-

 22/03485/HHD

 Type :-

 HOUSEHOL

5 . 9

 WTC/015/23



Applicant Name :- 

 .

 Date Received :- 

 17/01/2023


CENTRAL

 Date Returned :- 

Parish :-



Location :-

 26 WOODFORD MILL

 Agent


WOODFORD MILL



Proposals :- 

 Erection of garden pergola (retrospective).



Observations :-



Page  2



Page 22



Plot Ref :-

 22/03142/FUL

 Type :-

 FULL

5 . 10

 WTC/016/23



Applicant Name :- 

 .

 Date Received :- 

 17/01/2023


SOUTH

 Date Returned :- 

Parish :-



Location :-

 WITNEY SERVICE 

 Agent


STATION


WELCH WAY



Proposals :- 

 Demolition of existing portable cabin and the creation of a 


charging zone comprising of the erection of EV chargers with EV 


canopy over and associated forecourt works. Change of use of 


land to allow siting of sub-station enclosure.



Observations :-



Plot Ref :-

 23/00029/FUL

 Type :-

 FULL

5 . 11

 WTC/017/23



Applicant Name :- 

 .

 Date Received :- 

 16/01/2023


SOUTH

 Date Returned :- 

Parish :-



Location :-

 THE ANNEXE, 124 

 Agent


CORN STREET


CORN STREET



Proposals :- 

 Change of use from an existing self-contained annexe to a 


separate dwelling with associated works.



Observations :-



Plot Ref :-

 22/03525/FUL

 Type :-

 FULL

5 . 12

 WTC/018/23



Applicant Name :- 

 .

 Date Received :- 

 16/01/2023


SOUTH

 Date Returned :- 

Parish :-



Location :-

 UNIT 21

 Agent


AVENUE TWO



Proposals :- 

 Temporary siting of 6no. shipping containers.



Observations :-



Plot Ref :-

 22/01068/FUL

 Type :-

 FULL

5 . 13

 WTC/019/23



Applicant Name :- 

 .

 Date Received :- 

 16/01/2023


SOUTH

 Date Returned :- 

Parish :-



Location :-

 T ROBINS BUILDING

 Agent


AVENUE THREE



Proposals :- 

 Change of use from current mixed/warehouse to Sui Generis to 


allow the premises to be used as a live music and entertainment 


venue along with a bar serving alcohol, hot and cold food.


Single storey extension to the front aspect to provide new ladies 


toilets and disabled toilets with access and fire escapes.


Change to the front of Unit 5 (in service yard) to create venue 


entrance, and addition of window for box office.



Observations :-



Page  3



Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



NOTIFICATIONS OF PLANNING DECISIONS FROM  West Oxfordshire District Council



Minute Ref  6

 Tue 24 January 2023

 District Ref  



Page No :

 1

' C ' Contrary to District  'CD' Contrary Delegated 


' D ' Delegated



' E ' Endorsed by District  'ED'  Endorsed Delegated



GRANTED PLANNING PERMISSIONS



C

 WTC/053/22

 Approved

 THE GRIFFIN INN


District COMMENT   

 Local COMMENT   While Witney Town Council 



support the business case of The Griffin Inn, Members 


note the Conservation Officer response. If the applicant 


is able to address these concerns, a revised 


application would be welcomed and Witney Town 


Council support and encourage the improvement of 


services and facilities at the premises.



C

 WTC/054/22

 Approved

 THE GRIFFIN INN


District COMMENT   

 Local COMMENT   While Witney Town Council 



support the business case of The Griffin Inn, Members 


note the Conservation Officer response. If the applicant 


is able to address these concerns, a revised 


application would be welcomed and Witney Town 


Council support and encourage the improvement of 


services and facilities at the premises.



WTC/098/22

 Approved

 92 CORN STREET



E

 WTC/106/22

 Approved

 52 BURFORD ROAD



E

 WTC/107/22

 Approved

 35 - 37 WOODGREEN



E

 WTC/108/22

 Approved

 24 MARKET SQUARE



E

 WTC/110/22

 Approved

 UNITS A,B,C & 13



E

 WTC/111/22

 Approved

 77 HIGH STREET



E

 WTC/116/22

 Approved

 30 HOLLOWAY ROAD



E

 WTC/117/22

 Approved

 36 RALEGH CRESCENT



E

 WTC/118/22

 Approved

 47 RALEGH CRESCENT



E

 WTC/119/22

 Approved

 92 CORN STREET



E

 WTC/121/22

 Approved

 4 CHESTNUT CLOSE



E

 WTC/122/22

 Approved

 10 MOOR AVENUE



E

 WTC/125/22

 Approved

 1 WESLEY WALK



E

 WTC/126/22

 Approved

 155 BURWELL DRIVE



E

 WTC/129/22

 Approved

 10 - 12 HIGH STREET



Page 25

Agenda Item 6



NOTIFICATIONS OF PLANNING DECISIONS FROM  West Oxfordshire District Council



Minute Ref  6

 Tue 24 January 2023

 District Ref  



Page No :

 2

' C ' Contrary to District  'CD' Contrary Delegated 


' D ' Delegated



' E ' Endorsed by District  'ED'  Endorsed Delegated



GRANTED PLANNING PERMISSIONS



E

 WTC/130/22

 Approved

 10 - 12 HIGH STREET



E

 WTC/131/22

 Approved

 25B THE SPRINGS



E

 WTC/132/22

 Approved

 3 TUNGSTEN PARK



E

 WTC/133/22

 Approved

 16 EARLY ROAD



E

 WTC/135/22

 Approved

 UNIT 1A



E

 WTC/136/22

 Approved

 187 QUEEN EMMAS DYKE



E

 WTC/137/22

 Approved

 GROUND FLOOR UNIT



E

 WTC/138/22

 Approved

 6 THE OLD COACHYARD



E

 WTC/139/22

 Approved

 4 CHURCH LANE



E

 WTC/140/22

 Approved

 13 CHURCH VIEW



E

 WTC/141/22

 Approved

 8 MARKET SQUARE



E

 WTC/143/22

 Approved

 49 NEWLAND



E

 WTC/144/22

 Approved

 BEEKEEPERS



E

 WTC/145/22

 Approved

 NEWLAND INDUSTRIAL ESTATE



E

 WTC/146/22

 Approved

 18A CHURCH GREEN



E

 WTC/147/22

 Approved

 18A CHURCH GREEN



E

 WTC/148/22

 Approved

 84 BURWELL MEADOW



E

 WTC/150/22

 Approved

 9 HAZEL CLOSE



E

 WTC/151/22

 Approved

 ELIM PENTECOSTAL CHURCH



E

 WTC/152/22

 Approved

 17 CURBRIDGE ROAD



E

 WTC/157/22

 Approved

 174 MANOR ROAD



Page 26



NOTIFICATIONS OF PLANNING DECISIONS FROM  West Oxfordshire District Council



Minute Ref  6

 Tue 24 January 2023

 District Ref  



Page No :

 3

' C ' Contrary to District  'CD' Contrary Delegated 


' D ' Delegated



' E ' Endorsed by District  'ED'  Endorsed Delegated



GRANTED PLANNING PERMISSIONS



E

 WTC/158/22

 Approved

 93 WATERFORD ROAD



E

 WTC/159/22

 Approved

 1 FRENCH CLOSE



E

 WTC/161/22

 Approved

 WITNEY SERVICES



E

 WTC/162/22

 Approved

 4 WITAN PARK INDUSTRIAL ESTATE



E

 WTC/165/22

 Approved

 11 BROADWAY CLOSE



REFUSED PLANNING PERMISSIONS



WTC/109/22

 Refused

 21 STANTON HARCOURT ROAD

C



District COMMENT   The proposed first floor and two storey 

 Local COMMENT   While Witney Town Council does 


extensions and alteration to fenestration by reason of the 

 not object to this application in terms of material 


siting, design and form would create an incongruous and 

 concerns, it notes the loss of permeable drainage and 


dominant feature that is not in keeping with the existing host 

 would ask that mitigating measures are considered to 


dwelling. In addition, the proposed would be visible within the 

 help decrease the possibility of surface water flooding 


streetscene, and would result in harm to the visual 

 in this area, in accordance with policy EH7 of the 


appearance and character of the existing streetscene and 



West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031.


wider Conservation Area. The proposal is therefore 


considered contrary to Policies OS2, OS4, EH10, EH16 and 


H6 of the adopted West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031, the West 


Oxfordshire Design Guide, the National Design Guide and the 


relevant paragraphs of the National Planning Policy 


Framework.



WTC/114/22

 Refused

 MULBERRY HOUSE, 9 CHURCH GREEN

E



WTC/134/22

 Refused

 2 JACOBS CLOSE

C



District COMMENT   1. By reason of their design, massing and 

 Local COMMENT   While Witney Town Council does 


scale, the removal of existing rear conservatory, two storey 

 not object to this application in terms of material 


side extension to existing garage, front porch extension, rear 

 concerns, it notes the loss of permeable drainage and 


single storey extension and access to rear and front for  

 would ask that mitigating measures are considered to 


parking would be an incongruous addition to the host dwelling 

 help decrease the possibility of surface water flooding 


as they are not of a sympathetic design or form. In addition, the 

 in this area, in accordance with policy EH7 of the 


proposed side extension would be visible within the 



West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031.


streetscene, and result in harm to the visual appearance and 


character of the existing streetscene. The proposal is 


considered contrary to Policies OS2 and OS4 of the adopted 


West Oxfordshire Local Plan, the West Oxfordshire Design 


Guide, the National Design Guide and the relevant paragraphs 


of the NPPF.



2. By reason of its siting and scale, the development would 


result in a cramped and contrived development which would 


have an adverse impact on the open character of the housing 


development, which would fail to preserve or enhance the 


character of the conservation area. The proposal would result 


in less than substantial harm, which would fail to be 


outweighed by the public benefits of the proposed 


development. Consequently the proposal would fail to comply 


with policies OS2, OS4 and EH10 of the West



Page 27



NOTIFICATIONS OF PLANNING DECISIONS FROM  West Oxfordshire District Council



Minute Ref  6

 Tue 24 January 2023

 District Ref  



Page No :

 4

' C ' Contrary to District  'CD' Contrary Delegated 


' D ' Delegated



' E ' Endorsed by District  'ED'  Endorsed Delegated



REFUSED PLANNING PERMISSIONS



Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031, Section 16 of the National 


Planning Policy Framework, the WODC Design Guide 2016, 


and Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Building and 


Conservation Areas) Act 1990.



OTHER PLANNING DETAILS



WTC/120/22

 Withdrawn

 63 OXLEASE



WTC/123/22

 Withdrawn

 96 HIGH STREET



WTC/124/22

 Withdrawn

 96 HIGH STREET



WTC/127/22

 Withdrawn

 96A HIGH STREET



WTC/128/22

 Withdrawn

 96A HIGH STREET



WTC/142/22

 Withdrawn

 43 BURFORD ROAD



WTC/160/22

 Withdrawn

 73 HIGH STREET



WTC/164/22

 Withdrawn

 124 CORN STREET



Page 28



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

Appeal Decision  

Site visit made on 11 October 2022  
by S Crossen BA (Hons) PgCert PgDip MA MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 19 December 2022 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/D3125/W/22/3299642 
13 Willowbank, Witney OX28 4DQ  
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by H Frodsham against the decision of West Oxford District Council. 

• The application Ref 21/03031/FUL, dated 6 September 2021, was refused by notice 

dated 8 April 2022. 

• The development is for “Use of land in association with garden to No 13, erection of 

decking”. 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for use of land in 
association with garden to No 13, erection of decking at                               
13 Willowbank, Witney OX28 4DQ in accordance with the terms of the 

application, Ref 21/03031/FUL, dated 6 September 2021, and the plans 
submitted with it. 

Preliminary Matters 

2. The description of development used in the heading above is taken from the 
planning application form. However, for clarity, I have omitted the phrase 

“(retrospective)” as this is not a description of development. 

3. At the time of my site visit, I saw that the construction of the decking was 

substantially complete. I also note that the application has been submitted 
retrospectively. I have dealt with the appeal on that basis. 

4. The proposed plan also shows outbuildings which are annotated to be subject 

to a separate application. Therefore, I have not had regard to the outbuildings 
in determining the appeal. 

Main Issue 

5. The main issue is the effect of the development on the character and 
appearance of the area. 

Reasons 

6. The change of use of land, decking area and fencing is at the back of the rear 

garden to a modern house. The house is part of an estate of houses which back 
on to an area of greenspace containing a waterway and public footpath, which 
the rear boundaries of the appeal house and neighbouring houses 

approximately follow. These houses, although of similar materials, vary in 
design and height and are built offset to one another.  

Page 29

Agenda Item 7

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/D3125/W/22/3299642

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

7. The development can only be seen from the area to the rear of the houses 

along the public footpath. The footpath transitions from being secluded with 
planting either side to a more open area next to a shared car park and 

commercial property where the decking can be seen from.  

8. Between the footpath and houses is established planting which is within an 
area covered by a Tree Preservation Order and has a narrow waterway running 

through it. At both the appeal property and the neighbouring property the line 
of planting is partly broken due to recent development at both properties. New 

rear boundary treatment has been erected at the neighbouring house and at 
the site visit it was evident that some clearing had taken place to facilitate this 
which would be the case for any works along these rear boundaries. The 

footpath is seen in the context of existing residential development and that 
relationship forms part of the character of the area. 

9. The decking has a grey/blue finish, which I found to be no more prominent 
than the adjacent fence panel finish witnessed during my site visit. Moreover, it 
is seen against a backdrop of houses, which ensures that the decking does not 

appear incongruous.  

10. I note the Councils comments regarding the established boundary of residential 

properties and recognise that the decking extends beyond the original rear 
garden boundary of the house. When considering the relationship between 
houses here, their existing pattern of development is not linear, and although 

the rear boundaries appear to be when viewed on a plan, in the main, this 
relationship is not visible from the footpath due to existing planting. The 

development is visible from the public green space, as are some other 
boundaries and the houses themselves. However, there is still planting 
between the decking and the footpath and its projection beyond the established 

boundary of residential properties is not significant. Therefore, I do not find the 
projection of the decking to be visually intrusive. 

11. I note the Councils comments regarding whether the development protects or 
enhances the public green space or results in loss of landscape value. In the 
context of the existing character, the development being sited on an 

inaccessible part of the green space and having limited if any impact on the 
functionality of the green space, I find that the development protects the green 

space. 

12. Taking the above matters into consideration, I conclude that the development 
does not adversely affect the character and appearance of the area. It 

therefore accords with policies OS2, OS4 and EH4 of the West Oxfordshire 
Local Plan 20311, and relevant policies in the National Planning Policy 

Framework. These policies seek, amongst other things, new development to 
provide good design that is appropriate to its location, scale and function and 

to protect existing areas of public space and green infrastructure. 

Other Matters 

13. I note the Parish Council’s concern about setting a precedent for this type of 

development. However, for the reasons set out above, I find the development 
to be acceptable and as such, I am satisfied that my approval of it would not 

 
1 West Oxfordshire District Council, West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031, Adopted September 2018 

Page 30

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/D3125/W/22/3299642

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

set an undesirable precedent. Any future proposal for similar development 

would not to be assessed on their own merits. 

14. I note the representation received from the Environment Agency advising that 

a permit is required so that an assessment can be made as to any potential 
negative impacts from the development on nearby watercourses. However, 
whilst an environment permit may be required for the development, this is not 

a legitimate reason to withhold planning permission. 

Conditions 

15. I have had regard to the conditions suggested by the Council. I have not 
imposed the suggested condition requiring the development to be carried out in 
accordance with the plans because the development has been completed and 

so this is not necessary. Additionally, I have not imposed a condition requiring 
details of the staining or painting of the fence to be submitted and agreed by 

the Council as it is already painted an acceptable colour, so a condition is not 
necessary. 

Conclusion 

16. For the above reasons and having regard to all matters raised, I conclude 
that the appeal should be allowed. 

 

S Crossen  

INSPECTOR 

 

 

 

Page 31

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Inquiry held on 6, 7, 8, 9 and 21 September 2022 

Site visit made on 8 September 2022 

by J P Longmuir BA(Hons) DipUD MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date:09 January 2023 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/D3125/W/22/3297487 
Land at Witney Road, Ducklington, Oxfordshire 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant outline planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Ainscough Strategic Land against the decision of West 

Oxfordshire District Council. 

• The application Ref 21/03405/OUT, dated 13 October 2021, was refused by notice 

dated 10 March 2022. 

• The development proposed is up to 120 dwellings with associated landscaping and 

infrastructure. Detailed vehicular access from Witney Road with all other matters 

reserved. 
 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for: Up to 120 

dwellings with associated landscaping and infrastructure. Detailed vehicular 
access from Witney Road with all other matters reserved at land at Witney 
Road, Ducklington, Oxfordshire, in accordance with the terms of the 

application, Ref 21/03405/OUT, dated 13 October 2021, subject to the 
conditions in the conditions annexe at the end of this decision. 

Preliminary matters 

2. The application was submitted in outline with all matters reserved except 

access. A master plan layout was included, and I have given this consideration 
as an indicative scheme only. 

3. The second reason for refusal related to the understanding of the significance 

of archaeology and therefore the potential effect of development.  A survey by 
Cotswold Archaeology has been undertaken and the Council have confirmed 

that they are now satisfied subject to a recording condition. I have no contrary 
evidence before me and therefore concur.  

4. A signed Section 106 agreement was submitted on 23 September 2022. This  

confirms 40% of the dwellings would be affordable. It also makes financial 
contributions to The Lower Windrush Valley Area project, A40 improvements, 

public transport, sport/leisure, education, highway works and a Traffic 
Regulation Order. The Council considers these planning obligations would 
overcome the third reason for refusal. I shall return to this matter below.     

Page 33

Agenda Item 8

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/D3125/W/22/3297487 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

The main issues  

5. The main issues are: 

• the effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of the area 

particularly in terms of its scale, coalescence, loss of green space and 
contexts including the relationship with Witney Lake and Country Park and 
the Windrush Valley; and 

• the effect of the proposal on the significance of the Ducklington 
Conservation Area having particular regard to the effect on its setting. 

Reasons 

Character and appearance   

Background 

6. The appeal site and immediate surroundings are not within a designated 
landscape and not a ꞌvalued landscapeꞌ as identified in paragraph 174 of the 

National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework).  

7. Both parties also agree the site is within National Character Area 108 Upper 
Thames Clay Vales1. This notes the prevalence of enclosed pasture and field 

trees, again reflected by the appeal site. The West Oxfordshire Landscape 
Assessment2 (WOLA) places the site within the Lower Windrush Valley and 

Eastern Thames Fringes character area. This landscape is typically floodplain 
pasture, close to rivers, low lying and semi-enclosed, which also reflects the 
characteristics of the appeal site. The site is included in the Windrush Valley 

Project Area which the Local Plan at paragraph 8.11 describes as an area of 
major landscape change associated with mineral extraction and after uses 

specifically for recreation, tourism and nature conservation.  

8. The site is just off Witney Road which connects Ducklington village with Witney 
town. Close to the site, Witney Road is crossed by the elevated A40 dual 

carriageway with a roundabout junction and surrounding commercial 
development.  

9. The western part of Ducklington (stretching towards Witney and the appeal 
site) is characterised by 20th century residential development whereas the 
eastern part of the village has a historic core around the church and environs 

towards the River Windrush.  

10. The north-eastern boundary of the site adjoins Witney Lake and an adjacent 

Country Park, wherein several well used and marked trails allow public access 
around the lake and link to wider footpaths. To the western side of the site is 
an extensive area of allotments and straggle of individual houses. The east side 

has several residential properties and is dominated by an electricity substation. 
Substantial pylons and electricity wires prominently traverse the site. 

11. The site’s boundaries have a varied mix of mature and semi-mature trees and 
hedges. The site is traversed north-south and east-west by two signposted 

footpaths. These are well used judging by the eroded surface and cross over 
several streams with small bridges. 

 
1 Core Document 6.6 
2 Core Document 4.7 page 72 

Page 34

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/D3125/W/22/3297487 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

12. The potential effect on the character and appearance of the area needs to be 

considered in several respects as I have identified under the heading in the first 
main issue. They are derived from the decision notice and local plan policies. 

Whilst they are inter-related, they are divided below for ease of analysis. 

Coalescence  

13. Policy OS2 of the West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031 (LP) seeks to avoid 

coalescence and loss of identity of settlements. The Council and local residents 
consider that the appeal site forms a gap between Ducklington and Witney, 

thereby maintaining the separate identity and character of both settlements. 

14. However, the Inspector reporting on the Local Plan3 in 2015 found that such a 
gap was not clearly defined. In any event whilst considering the need for a 

particular policy for this ꞌgapꞌ he concluded that other policies were in place 
which seek to ensure that development protects the character of the area, to 

which the Council point to OS2.   

15. Conversely, in determination of an appeal at the adjacent 110 Witney Road4, 
that Inspector comments that this appeal site is part of a notable gap in the 

Witney Road frontage which contributes to the open setting around the 
outskirts of Ducklington.  

16. The appellant suggests the village adjoins the commercial area off the A40 
roundabout as evident by the road sign for Ducklington.  This is also partly 
reflected by the Ducklington-Witney parish boundary being the A40 

carriageway.  

17. I note that there are differences to the perception of the extent of Ducklington 

and it is a matter of opinion whether the appeal site forms a gap between 
Ducklington and Witney. However, it is clear that the appeal site, as an open 
space, does form a discernible gap between the groups of buildings on the 

Witney Road frontage. As such this gap may help some people segregate the 
village from the more intensive A40 roundabout area of development.   

18. However, this gap is only on the east side of the Witney Road as the other side 
has a continuous line of buildings up to the roundabout. Indeed, in some places 
this development extends substantially behind this western Witney Road 

frontage particularly by the cul-de-sacs: Dale Walk and Moors Close both 
opposite the appeal site. Thus, there is currently coalescence on one side.  

19. Moreover, the Council confirmed that the front garden to 110 Witney Road has 
an extant permission for a new dwelling. This would narrow the gap between 
the groups of buildings, thereby contributing to coalescence.    

20. I therefore find that the role of the appeal site segregating groups of buildings 
would be reduced. This would lead towards more sense of coalescence, but I do 

not find this particularly significant due to the extensive development on the 
opposite side of the Witney Road.   

Loss of green space, ditches and openness     

21. Policy EH2 requires the conservation of the landscape character and its 
distinctiveness. The site is of rough grassland, which has not been grazed for 

 
3 Core Document 4.10 Paragraph 122 Report on the Examination of the West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031 
4 APP/D3125/W/20/3261473 Mr Wood Appendix 1a 

Page 35

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/D3125/W/22/3297487 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

several years apparently due to problems with dogs and livestock. It lacks the 

character of a grassland meadow as it has not been maintained as such, rather 
it appears overgrown and unkempt. As such I find that the grassland in itself 

does not contribute significantly to the character of the area. 

22. The site is also characterised by its network of drainage ditches, which appear 
long standing judging from the historic maps. The ditches are crossed by 

bridges, which indicate a floodplain character.  Most of the drainage ditches 
would be likely to be lost by the proposal. 

23. The site has a perceptible openness particularly from Witney Road. However, 
away from this frontage, the openness is partly impinged by adjacent hotel 
buildings, electricity sub-station and various houses.  

24. Nonetheless the master plan shows an indicative scheme for 120 dwellings but 
both parties agree5 approximately 2.64ha ꞌpublic open space and green spaceꞌ, 

42% of the site, would remain.  Some open space could also be left on the 
frontage, which would retain some sense of openness and limit impact in this 
regard.  Even so there would still be some loss of openness from Witney Road 

and within the site.   

25. This loss of openness and the gap would not be significant when viewed from 

the east including Witney Lake as I explain latterly.       

Views and context 

26. Policy OS4 titled high quality design requires new development to respect the 

landscape character of the locality and where possible enhance. The most 
notable view over the appeal site is of Witney church spire, seen from the 

Witney Road frontage and the footpaths within the site. The master plan shows 
it is possible to accommodate the built development without obstruction to 
these views.  

27. The other views are of the various boundary trees. The submitted Preliminary 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment plots the root protection areas of the 

boundary trees and concludes that no removal would be necessary as a result 
of the proposal. Moreover, the master plan also shows that it would not only be 
possible to retain the existing trees but also some open space could be 

arranged so they would remain in view. New tree planting is indicated, and the 
undeveloped part of the site would provide space for the new trees to flourish.  

28. The views within and into the appeal site are dominated by overhead pylons 
and power lines. These are both distracting and unsightly due to their height 
and industrial nature. The appellant has suggested that they would be removed 

and placed underground, funded as part of the development, which would be a 
notable benefit and a condition is suggested. Whilst the Council suggest this 

could happen irrespective of the proposal, such expense would be likely to be 
prohibitive unless part of a development. 

29. Both parties agree that the only lost vegetation would be a 25m length of 
hedgerow along Witney Road for the site access; this would be capable of being 
replaced. 

 
5 Paragraph 3.4 Statement of Common Ground   

Page 36

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/D3125/W/22/3297487 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

30. Both parties agree that potentially 42% of the site could be undeveloped. 

Therefore, the reserved matters scheme would have scope to create open 
spaces with new tree planting to create discernible character so that the 

context for the views of the existing boundary trees would not be expected to 
be overwhelmingly of new houses.  In addition, the layout would be 
unconstrained by the lack of existing features on the site and would have a 

central access point thereby giving the designer flexibility to use the spaces to 
provide character.     

31. The appellant’s Landscape Visual Appraisal (LVA) had only photographs taken 
in summer, not in winter when the intervisibility would be expected to be 
greater. From the footpath to the north alongside the Witney Lake, views into 

the appeal site are largely filtered in summer and I would expect the winter 
views to be more apparent due to the deciduous nature of the trees. However, 

the dwellings would be likely to be deeper into the site, away from this view, as 
the suggested drainage strategy shows this area is needed for water storage 
basins being the lowest6 part of the site.  

32. The details of these water storage basins would be determined at a reserved 
stage but there is no reason why they could not be shaped and landscaped to 

form attractive features. Indeed, they would be commensurate with the low-
lying meadow character.     

33. Views of the north-east corner of the appeal site, further along the lakeside 

footpath where the vegetation becomes sparse, are dominated by the 
electricity substation. It is unsightly due to its metallic, industrial like 

construction and is eye catching, so whilst the proposed dwellings may be 
visible from this footpath, due to the distance they would not dominate.  

34. The LVA identifies other more distant viewpoints, wherein the site is small and 

insignificant beyond the immediate landscape.  Consequently, whilst Policy EH2 
makes reference to the much wider Lower Windrush Valley Project, the site is 

experienced as a localised entity, so there is no conflict in that respect.  

35. The views of the appeal site would change from an area of open land  
dominated by pylons to residential dwellings but with some open space, 

landscaping and the loss of pylons. The overall impact on views would be 
neutral.  

Scale of the proposal and shape of the settlement  

36. Policy OS2 allows for limited development which is a proportionate and 
appropriate scale to its context including the potential cumulative impact of 

development. The Council submit that the proposal would be of an 
inappropriate scale, contravening this policy. However, the master plan shows 

up to 120 dwellings could be accommodated on the appeal site whilst achieving 
42% open space. The Council also acknowledge the scheme would be low 

density.  

37. Relatedly, the Council foresees the development would be disproportionate to 
Ducklington. The 2011 census records only 654 households in Ducklington7 and 

the recent developments in the area have been more modest. However, there 
are existing extensive residential areas, which adjoin part of some of the site 

 
6 Paragraph 5.5 Flood Risk Assessment  
77 Mr Woods paragraph 3.46 Proof of Evidence  

Page 37

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/D3125/W/22/3297487 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          6 

boundaries and are opposite Witney Road; these are clearly evident from the 

public footpaths and roads.  In addition, the commercial development in the 
vicinity of the A40 roundabout has a prominent presence.  

38. Furthermore, the village extends over a wide area. It took considerable time to 
walk the length of the village on my site visit. Similarly, it is also not possible 
to look from one side of the village to another. In this respect the physical 

extension of the development area would not be significant.   

39.  The first reason for refusal also refers to the pattern of development.  The 

original core of the village is concentrated around the church. There is a 
scattering of original buildings along radial roads, however, there is a 
considerable spread outward of twentieth century residential development, 

leading to a nonlinear form. As I have found earlier this development in depth 
is evident in the cul-de-sacs opposite the appeal site and at the nearly adjacent 

Chalcroft Close. 

40. The proposal would conflict with Policy OS2 in terms of not being limited in 
scale, however the indicative scheme shows that the site can accommodate 

120 dwellings at low density.  I find that the proposal would not be seen or 
perceived to be overwhelming and would not undermine the form of the 

settlement, so in these respects would not conflict with Policy OS2.   

41. In addition, the Council felt this issue impacted on the setting of the 
Conservation Area, which I will consider latterly.  

Overall Conclusion: 

42. The adverse impacts include less separation between groups of buildings, loss 

of some openness, and drainage ditches, and I agree with both main parties 
that the effect would be localised. There would be benefits of new tree planting 
and removal of pylons and the low density of the proposal would allow the 

opportunity to create characterful spaces, retain and reinforce the boundary 
trees. I therefore find that the proposal would result in limited harm to the 

character and appearance of the area. 

43. Policies OS2, OS4 and EH2 seek protection of the landscape and character of 
the area, to which the proposal would conflict as it would lead to limited harm.  

44. Paragraph 126 of the Framework seeks the creation of high quality, beautiful 
and sustainable buildings and places. Paragraph 130 requires developments are 

visually attractive; reference is made to layout and appropriate and effective 
landscaping. It also seeks a strong sense of place. Paragraph 174 requires 
decisions contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by 

recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside. Similarly, as I 
have found above, the proposal would be harmful, albeit limited, and as such 

would conflict with most of the criteria in the above paragraphs.        

 

The effect of the proposal on the significance of the Ducklington 
Conservation Area with particular regard to the effect on its setting 

Background  

45. The Ducklington Conservation Area (CA) was designated in 1988 and has not 
been reviewed since. The appeal site is outside the CA but has the potential to 

Page 38

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/D3125/W/22/3297487 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          7 

contribute to its setting. Policies OS2 and OS4 refer to conserving heritage. 

Policy EH9 is titled historic environment and seeks to conserve and/or enhance 
the special character, appearance and distinctiveness of the historic 

environment, including the setting of Conservation Areas.  Section 72 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires that 
special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 

character or appearance of that area. 

46. Both parties agree on the relevance of Historic England’s Good Practice Advice 

on the Setting of Heritage Assets. This describes the importance of setting lies 
in what it contributes to the significance of the heritage asset or to the ability 
to appreciate that significance. The definition in the glossary to the Framework 

also refers to the setting as the surroundings in which the asset is experienced.  
The PPG on ꞌHistoric environmentꞌ highlights that the extent and importance of 

setting includes visual factors as well as experiences including the historic 
relationship.  Both parties highlighted the relevance of the Court of Appeal case 
involving Kedleston Hall8 which shows that historical, social and cultural 

matters are relevant to the definition of setting, and that a direct physical or 
visual connection is not always necessary to form part of a setting.  

The main elements that contribute to the significance of the CA 

47. Paragraph 195 of the Framework highlights the need to assess the particular 
significance of the heritage asset would be potentially affected. In this context 

the contribution the setting makes to the significance is also therefore of 
relevance.  

48. The CA is drawn around the historic core of the village, which latterly spread 
towards Witney with outlying dispersed groups of buildings at Little Ducklington 
and other connecting roads.  

49. The traditional part of the village is clustered close to the River Windrush, 
which would have helped support basic living, but equally there is some 

separation as the flat landscape would be prone to flooding. 

50. The village has medieval origins although the surviving buildings are generally 
later. The twelfth century church is one of the oldest, sited on the edge of the 

historic core so that it forms a focus particularly with its tower.   

51. I noted that the village has a considerable number of traditional buildings, 

which are largely domestic in character, with a predominance of small cottages. 
The buildings are tightly knit with few spaces so that an enclosed character 
predominates. The buildings are typically representative of the vernacular in 

terms of natural stone walling, proportions and detailing. There are a variety of 
roof coverings including thatch which adds to the rustic character. 

52. There are only a few outward views from the village, so these are consequently 
noticed due to the otherwise enclosed streets. Similarly, the views into the 

village tend to be limited to the periphery. 

 

 

 

 
8 Inquiry document 15 

Page 39

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/D3125/W/22/3297487 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          8 

The main elements which contribute to the significance of the CA that are most 

relevant to this appeal   

53. The site is outside the Conservation Area, and its relationship needs to be 

considered in terms of historical, social and cultural matters as well as visual 
connection. 

54. The visual connection to the countryside is also present from the several views 

into and outward of the CA. These provide interest and contrast to the 
otherwise enclosed nature of the traditional form and so contribute to the CA’s 

significance. 

55. The Council argued that the village has agricultural origins which fostered its 
social and economic growth, leading to the development of the village in 

keeping with the Cotswold traditions. Whilst this assumption is fair it is not 
unusual, and the Council suggest that the appeal site being historically in 

agricultural use would have made an important contribution. I give this 
consideration in the next section below.  

56. The Council also advocate that roof pitches, narrow gable widths and limestone 

materials show the agricultural influence in the nature of buildings in the 
village. However, I find that the village has generally domestic architecture 

which does not show an agricultural character.  

57. The village spread away from the original historic core around the church 
towards Witney (and the appeal site) with outlying and dispersed groups of 

buildings at Little Ducklington.  Whilst the CA does have a discernible form, I 
find that the suggested linearity of traditional buildings along the outward 

connecting roads is not significant: the Conservation Area Character Area 
Appraisal notes ꞌthere has been extensive modern development between the 
conservation area and the bypass although this has no strong overall ordering 

form and the relationship with the earlier fabric appear somewhat arbitraryꞌ. 
Additionally, it notes that ꞌthe 20th century infill development on gardens and 

former farmyards has tended to subvert the linear form within the 
Conservation ꞌAreaꞌ.  

58. I concur that modern development has eroded the original linear form within 

the Conservation Area and even more so around its edges, so this is not 
pertinent to this appeal. 

Does the appeal site contribute to the significance of the CA    

59. An undated Conservation Area Character Area Appraisal has been published by 
the Council, which did not comment on the boundaries or review the 

designation. It also makes no specific mention of the appeal site, which is an 
indication that it is not important. 

60. The Council has also published ꞌProposals for Preservation and Enhancementꞌ 
for the CA. This refers to the retention and management of floodplain pasture 

and meadows and planting along watercourses. There is general mention of the 
need to soften settlements’ edges with new landscaping but again there is no 
mention of the appeal site specifically.   

61. The appeal site being historically in agricultural use is suggested by the Council 
as making an important contribution to social and economic growth, leading to 

the development of the village.   

Page 40

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/D3125/W/22/3297487 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          9 

62. The Council also point to the significance of the appeal site being within fields 

called ꞌThe Moorsꞌ. However, the historic maps show the annotation for The 
Moors varies in location and extent. The appeal site is also shown in the historic 

maps9 as 6 fields in 1960, 5 in 1982 and 1 in 1999, as currently, indicating 
different historic boundaries and possibly various ownerships. The surrounding 
fields have also lost their boundaries. The Council accepts10 that much of The 

Moors has been lost to roads, the former quarry now Witney Lake and the 
electrical sub-station. 

63. The Conservation Area Appraisal does not mention The Moors, which if  
significant, would be expected in such a Council document analysing historic 
characteristics and significance. Similarly, the WOLA makes no reference to the 

Moors.  

64. The Council at the Inquiry commented on the experience of walking across the 

appeal site, then joining the Conservation Area. However, as I observed on my 
site visit, the intervening fields have overgrown boundaries without a clear 
pattern. In addition, the rear gardens and elevations of twentieth century 

houses are also prominent. Thus, I find that the dynamic or kinetic experience 
of the series of views does not demonstrate any historic significance. 

65. Consequently, I find that the appeal site does not contribute to any surviving 
historic field pattern nor has it had a significant historic or cultural association 
with the village which contributes to the significance of the CA.  

66. The Appraisal maps11 ꞌsignificant viewsꞌ out from the Conservation Area 
towards the adjacent countryside.  However, these are neither near or 

orientated towards the appeal site and both parties agree12 none of these 
particular views would be affected. 

67. However, there is a view along Witney Road from the edge of the CA, towards 

the appeal site. The intervisibility with the site frontage is confirmed by the 
appellant’s photograph. Thus, the appeal site has an influence on the visual 

appreciation of the CA and therefore forms part of its setting.   

The effect of the proposal on the CA  

68. I find on the basis of evidence submitted to the Inquiry, a historic or cultural 

connection between the CA and the appeal site has not been clearly 
demonstrated. I find that the only contribution the appeal site makes to the 

significance of the CA is the extent to which its appearance can be appreciated 
in the view along Witney Road. 

69. Both parties agreed at the Inquiry that only the appeal site frontage would be 

visible so that only a small part of this view would be influenced by the appeal 
proposal, largely the new access and the loss of the hedgerow. Whilst the 

hedge could be replaced by new landscaping this would take time to establish.  

70. The houses would be slightly further back from the point of the access due to 

the need for visibility and therefore even more obliquely in view, even if the 
reserved matters showed frontage development. 

 
9 Core Document 6.7 EDP Extracts from Historic Mapping  
10 Closing Paragraph 75 (l) 
11 Map pages 6-7 
12 Statement of Common Ground paragraph 7.37 

Page 41

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/D3125/W/22/3297487 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          10 

71. The proposed development would be visible from this outward view which 

would attract attention whereas the current view is of  countryside which 
provides a muted background.  

Level of harm 

72. Both parties agree that the effect of the proposal would be ꞌless than 
substantialꞌ harm to the CA however the Council at the Inquiry argued that it 

was towards the upper end of this position and needed to be weighed 
accordingly in the overall balance. 

73. As I found above the view out/into the CA to/from the appeal site is very 
oblique and at a fair distance, I find that the access and new houses would only 
be a small element and not prominent particularly with the potential for 

landscaping.  In addition, the appeal site is also not a distinctive part of this 
view. Consequently, the proposal would lead to very limited harm to the CA as 

a whole. 

74. As such, I therefore find that the proposal would lead to very limited harm to 
the character and appearance of the CA: a low point within ꞌless than 

substantial harmꞌ.  

Conclusion 

75. Policies OS2 and OS4 refer to conserving heritage. Similarly, Policy EH9 seeks 
to conserve and/or enhance the historic environment, including the setting of 
Conservation Areas. As I have found the proposal would lead to an intrusion, 

albeit very limited, to the views towards and from the Conservation Area, the 
proposal would be contrary to these policies. 

76. Paragraph 202 of the Framework states where a development proposal will lead 
to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, 
this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal 

including, where appropriate securing its optimum viable use. Accordingly, this 
is considered latterly in the overall balance. Whilst it is a low point within ꞌless 

than substantialꞌ harm, the effect on the CA must be given special attention 
under section 72 of the 1990 Act and great weight under paragraph 199 of the 
Framework. I therefore give considerable importance and weight to the harm I 

have identified in my balancing judgment below.   

Other matters 

77. There are several listed buildings in the vicinity. Section 66 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires special regard to 
the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of 

special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. As I noted earlier 
the spire of St Mary’s church, a Grade I listed building is visible from Witney 

Road and within the appeal site, and these views could be retained as the 
master plan shows. The nearest listed buildings are the Grade II, 61-63 Witney 

Road, which are built of stone to a vernacular design and are just outside the 
Conservation Area. There is restricted inter-visibility, and the Committee 
Report suggests a 70m13 distance away. 

 
13 Paragraph 5.6 

Page 42

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/D3125/W/22/3297487 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          11 

78. I have not been made aware of any apparent historic or cultural connection of 

these listed buildings with the appeal site. I find that the listed buildings and 
their settings would not be harmed by the proposal, and I note the Council did 

not object to the settings of listed buildings and the questionnaire records no 
such effects. 

79. Local residents and Councillors gave written and oral evidence that the appeal 

site was prone to flooding. Councillor Maynard questioned the Environment 
Agency (EA) Flood Plain maps and relayed his conversation with them on the 

need for updating. He suggested the maps had been changed and an earlier 
one showed a markedly different pattern of flooding.   

80. The appellant confirms that the West Oxfordshire SFRA14 was updated in 

November 2016. This informed the Agency’s mapping which places the 
majority of the site in Flood Zone 1.  A Flood Risk Assessment was submitted 

with the application. This acknowledges the site’s existing drainage ditches, the 
topographical survey, geology, existing greenfield run-off rates and confirms 
the detention strategy. The Council duly consulted the EA who have particular 

responsibility for such matters and the flood plain maps show the best 
understanding to date of the likelihood of flooding. The EA had no objection, 

commenting on the application to their best professional expertise, and I 
accept their conclusion in the absence of any clear evidence to the contrary. 

81. The application details show a drainage strategy of using holding basins on the 

site to accommodate surface water run-off from the proposed hard surfaces 
away from dwellings. The land levels of appeal site show that such water 

holding would be effective and the site is large enough to manage water run-off 
arising from the development: the holding basins could be sized, shaped and 
orientated towards this specific need. The Council had no objection to the 

strategy subject to a condition on the details. I find there is no clear evidence 
to come to a different conclusion.     

82. One of the local residents comments that the holding basins could have  
stagnant water causing nuisance and could be a safety risk to children. 
However, they could be designed to ensure that they would be appropriate; 

these are a commonly used means of water management.  

83. Some local residents have concern about the safety of children walking and 

cycling to school. A Transport Assessment was submitted with the application 
which analysed the safety implications and concluded favourably, which was 
also accepted by the Council’s Highway Officer. Moreover, the proposal 

provides funding towards implementing a potential Traffic Regulation Order for 
the reduction of the Witney Road speed limit from 30mph to 20mph, which 

would help safety. Whilst air quality is another concern, this was the subject of 
a study including a survey at the application stage and Council Officers15 had 

no objections. I was not presented with clear evidence that would lead me to a 
different conclusion.    

84. I also note the concern about inadequate car parking, but there is no reason 

why a detailed layout could not be designed to meet the Council’s 
requirements. Similarly, there would be sufficient space to design a scheme to 

avoid impairing the living conditions of existing residents. 

 
14 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment  
15 Paragraph 5.78 Committee Report 

Page 43

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/D3125/W/22/3297487 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          12 

85. Several residents comment about sewage capacity in the area. However, 

Thames Water commented at the application stage that they had no objection 
in terms of foul water capacity.  Comments are also made about health 

provision however the additional households would not be a significant increase 
in the population of the area. School capacity is also raised but the Section 106 
agreement provides funding for expansion.       

86. The local residents have concerns about the wildlife particularly birds, bats and 
badgers which have been seen on the site. However, the site’s ecological value 

was considered in the submitted report dated 24 September 2021, which did 
not find significant species or habitat. Similarly, I note there is a SSSI nearby, 
but Natural England had no objection to the proposal. The appellant also 

suggests a condition promoting ecological measures to create a biodiversity net 
gain.   

Housing Land Supply  

87. The Council suggest housing land supply is 3.96 years (a 1,080 dwellings 
shortfall) and the appellant finds 3.56 years (a 1,485 dwellings shortfall). The 

yearly requirement 2011-2021 being 550.  

88. Both sides acknowledge the definition of deliverable in the Glossary to the 

Framework and the need for clear evidence. However, the build rate and 
deliverability of several sites are disputed. 

89. At ꞌREEMA North and Centraꞌ there was dispute whether an extant permission 

for 200 dwellings existed. In addition, the MoD are discussing a revised scheme 
which is yet to be submitted. Thus, the implementation and timing are both 

uncertain, and I do not find that this would meet the test of deliverable.    

90. On land east of ꞌMonaham Wayꞌ, the appellant suggests a shortfall of 80 units 
using the Lichfields16 delivery rate yardstick. The Council rely on the comment 

from the builder, which may be optimistic given it is the only seller and there is 
no basis to suggest faster delivery than the Lichfield’s rate. I therefore find that 

these 80 dwellings should not count towards the 5 year supply.        

91. For land at ꞌLondon Road and Russel Wayꞌ there was considerable debate over 
the contribution of 35 units in a Use Class C2 development near Chipping 

Norton. The Council preferred to rely upon the nature of the facilities and the 
internal layout whereas the appellant favoured the C2 use and yardstick in the 

PPG which bases the number of dwellings for land supply in terms of those 
freed up. The Council’s stance is based on an interpretation however the 
appellant’s is more inclined towards accepted national practice which I find 

more appropriate.    

92. The Council suggest that 24 lapsed small sites could be the subject of new 

planning applications and make an allowance. However, that would not meet 
the definition of deliverable in the Framework and in any event their likely 

implementation date would be beyond 5 years and should not be included 
within the 5 year land supply.  

93. There was also dispute whether an assumption should be made that some 

permissions on small sites will lapse. The appellant suggests 10% and a 

 
16 Research following the progress of numerous developments. The second edition considers 180 sites from 50 to 

over 2,000 dwellings.   

Page 44

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/D3125/W/22/3297487 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          13 

reduction of 66 dwellings should be made. There is a logic to the assumption 

that some permissions will lapse as the owners may change their minds, may 
neglect the 3 year deadline or a constraint emerges. Given these eventualities I 

find that a 10% allowance and 66 dwellings reduction would be reasonable.          

94. I therefore find that the housing land supply position is between the Council’s 
and the appellant’s positions, nearer the latter. But in any event, I do not find 

that there is much difference between 3.56 and 3.96 years. Even taking the 
Council's less pessimistic position the supply is substantially short.  

95. Moreover, LP Policy H2 shows that the District from 2021-22 onwards has to 
take some of the housing need from the Oxford City area. This adds 275 
dwellings each year to West Oxfordshire’s housing land supply requirement, 

which is a daunting increase as a proportion and in the context of already 
under-delivery.  

96. Both parties make reference to the recent appeal decision at Burford17. That 
Inspector found that the housing land supply was between the Council’s 
position of 5.02 years and the appellant’s 3.68 but closer to the latter. However 

different evidence was submitted to this Inquiry and so that decision does not 
lead me to a particular conclusion. 

97. Paragraph 5.23 of the LP acknowledges there has been previous under supply 
and a shortfall of housing. It continues that the Local Plan therefore seeks to 
make a significant increase in supply. The Council suggest that housing 

delivery has improved since the Local Plan adoption in September 2018. 
However, that impetus has happened, and the review of the plan has only just 

been commenced. Future allocations would be expected to be affirmed at the 
earliest in 2024. It would take some time thereafter for schemes to be 
designed, for the planning application process to be completed and for 

implementation to be arranged. In addition, the abandonment of the 
Oxfordshire Plan creates further uncertainty of the strategic picture.      

98.  The Council suggest that delivery on large sites could well improve, but 
equally some could run into difficulties.  

99. I therefore conclude that the housing land supply shortfall is substantial and 

the prospects for it improving are poor, even more so with the additional 
requirement from Oxford City.  

Affordable housing   

100. The proposal would provide 40% of the dwellings as affordable homes in 
accordance with Policy H3. The dispute at the Inquiry was over the weight this 

should be given. 

101. The Council agree that affordable housing is much needed18 and it is 

important that it be delivered as soon as possible19.  This is echoed in 
paragraph 5.3 of the LP which refers to the high prices in the area. The Council 

however suggests that the need in Ducklington is low based on the responses 
to the housing register. The appellant suggests that those in need are unlikely 
to select Ducklington because of the assumed unavailability. In any event the 

 
17 APP/D3125/W/22/3293656  
18 Statement of Common Ground paragraph 8.13 
19 Affordable Housing Round table 

Page 45

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/D3125/W/22/3297487 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          14 

site would be well placed to meet the needs of West Oxfordshire. Indeed, the 

planning obligation makes provision for general affordable needs and not 
specifically to Ducklington. 1,08420 households on the housing waiting list 

expressed a preference for Witney.   

102. The Council acknowledged that it relies upon the delivery of market housing 
to provide affordable homes. Such delivery is being impaired by the inadequate 

housing land supply provision and as I found earlier is unlikely to be remedied 
in the near future. Indeed, the Local Plan21 includes housing affordability as one 

of its key issues of greatest significance.  

103. When assessed against the 2014 SHMA target22 there is 6 years of under-
delivery and 2 years of surplus but an overall significant shortfall. According to 

the Council’s own most recent figures, there are 2,985 applicants on the 
Council’s housing register. Waiting times are between 721 days and 1,027 

days23 according to the size of the dwelling. I find the affordable housing is 
shortfall is substantial.  

104. These figures represent people lacking suitable housing everyday of their 

lives, resulting in impaired quality of life and challenges for health and 
wellbeing. The proposal is for 40% of the up to 120 dwellings to be affordable, 

which would be a very significant amount. The Council’s Strategic Housing and 
Development Officer concluded24 that the affordable housing proposed here 
would make an important contribution to local housing need.  

105. I therefore conclude that the proposal should be afforded the substantial 
weight suggested by the appellant.  

Other Planning Obligations  

106. The West Oxfordshire Infrastructure Delivery Plan Policy highlights the need 
for facilities. The 2010 CIL Regulations and paragraph 57 of the Framework 

provide the tests for obligations. Both the District and the County Councils have 
provided CIL Compliance Statements. Whilst both parties generally agree on 

the obligations, there is nonetheless a clause25 that, if I am not minded that a 
particular obligation meets the CIL tests or is not material to this proposal, it 
can be struck out.    

107. EH5 requires contributions towards outdoor recreation and play facilities  
and accordingly the ꞌSport and Leisure contributionꞌ would meet the additional 

demands of new households and is capable of being provided within the 
catchment area. The two contributions to the ꞌCapital infrastructure 
improvementsꞌ in the Lower Windrush Valley Area and the ꞌCountryside 

enhancementsꞌ relating to the Lower Windrush Valley Project would offset the 
impacts of the new residents. Both are supported by Policy EH4 which requires 

contributions towards local green infrastructure. The public open space/play 
obligation is needed to ensure that satisfactory management is in place for the 

amenity of users and the appearance of the scheme.  

 
20 Paragraph 42 Appellant closing 
21 Paragraph 1.1 
22 Figure 4 Mr Stacey Proof of Evidence 
23 Paragraph 52 Appellant closing 
24 Core document 3.28 
25 Clause 6.11   

Page 46

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/D3125/W/22/3297487 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          15 

108. The ꞌA40 improvementsꞌ are necessary due to the increase in vehicles arising 

from the development. The County Council confirmed at the Inquiry that an 
improvement scheme has been devised. The bus stops, crossings, walking 

signs and dropped kerbs are necessary to ensure that non-vehicular movement  
is encouraged in the interest of saving carbon emissions. Policy T1 promotes 
sustainable transport and more specifically T3 seeks to expand the use and 

provision of public transport, walking and cycling. The travel plan monitoring 
fee is similarly warranted. The ꞌTRO implementation feeꞌ is necessary to 

support the speed limit being changed to 20mph to help safety.  

109. The education contributions are necessary to ensure that provision is made 
for the new residents as the County Council CIL Statement explains there is 

insufficient capacity.  OS5 requires new development to contribute towards 
essential infrastructure. 

110. The above are intended to mitigate the needs and impact of the intended 
occupants of up to 120 additional houses, to avoid placing undue pressure on 
the existing community facilities. The requirements were based on calculating 

the resulting new residents and the likely need for the particular facilities.   

111. The CIL Compliance Statements set out how each obligation would meet the 

tests in the CIL Regulations and the Framework. Similarly, they meet the 
requirements of the particular Development Plan policies. I am satisfied that 
each obligation contained in the agreement would meet the tests in that they 

are all necessary to make the development acceptable, directly related and 
fairly and reasonably related in kind and scale. 

The Development Plan and Planning Balance  

112. Paragraph 202 of the Framework states where a development proposal will 
lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage 

asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal 
including, where appropriate securing its optimum viable use.  

113. Addressing the heritage balance first, I found earlier the proposal would lead 
to less than substantial harm to the significance of the Ducklington 
Conservation Area, resultant from an adverse effect on the contribution the 

setting makes to the designated area, which would be a low point on this scale. 
Albeit that harm would be very limited, I give this considerable importance and 

weight as harm to a designated heritage asset. Balanced against this are the 
positive benefits of the scheme including up to 120 new homes, of which 40% 
would be affordable housing. I conclude that these public benefits would 

outweigh that harm. The Council also arrived at a similar conclusion, even 
though they concluded that the level of impact and the weight they ascribed to 

the harm to the heritage asset would be greater. On this basis there is no clear 
reason for refusing the development in the context of paragraph 11(d)i and  

footnote 7 which therefore does not disengage the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development or the tilted balance as set out in 11(d)ii of the 
Framework, however I will still include the heritage harm as part of the harms 

when undertaking the overall balance.  

114. In addition to the above, I have found limited harm to the character and 

appearance of the area. Accordingly, the proposal would conflict with Policies 
OS2, OS4, EH2 and EH9 but I ascribe only limited weight to this conflict due to 
the limited and localised nature of the harm.   

Page 47

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/D3125/W/22/3297487 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          16 

115. Policy H1 states that development will be monitored annually to ensure that 

the overall strategy is being delivered, which shows the importance of 
maintaining housing land supply. H1 also directs that the Witney sub area26 

(wherein the appeal is located), is the second largest area for growth in the 
District. Indeed, the Local Plan targets the Witney sub area for new 
development. Paragraph 9.2.1 confirms that Witney as the District’s largest 

town acts as the main service centre. The submitted Transport Assessment 
shows that the site would be within walking distance to the southern environs 

of Witney, whereby the residents would be readily able to access everyday 
local facilities without having to rely upon the use of private car. Paragraph 
9.2.24 states limited development opportunities within Witney mean that 

greenfield land on the edge of the town will be required for future need. The 
proposal would not conflict with H1.  

116. Policy H2 titled ꞌDelivery of New Homesꞌ, foresees growth in the Witney area. 
It allows for new homes on undeveloped land adjoining the built-up area 
ꞌwhere convincing evidence is presented to demonstrate that it is necessary to 

meet identified housing needs [if] it is in accordance with the distribution of 
housing set out in Policy H1 and is in accordance with other policies in the plan 

in particular the general principles in Policy OS2ꞌ. The proposal would only 
conflict with H2 by its cross reference to OS2 which has the ꞌlimited 
developmentꞌ criterion.   

117. Policy OS1 has a presumption in favour of sustainable development. This 
states that where policies are out of date then permission will be granted 

unless material considerations indicate otherwise. It then cross references to 
the Framework.  

118. Considering the above collectively there is some support but also some 

conflict with the development plan. Taken as a whole, I find that the proposal 
would conflict, but that conflict would only be very limited and consequently 

warrants very little weight.   

119. Both parties accept that the Council is not meeting its five-year housing land 
supply requirements. Paragraph 11d(ii) of the Framework is therefore engaged. 

This states that where policies are out of date permission should be granted 
unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 

outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies in the Framework 
taken as a whole. 

120. Paragraph 7 of the Framework states that the purpose of the planning 

system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development. In 
order to achieve this paragraph 8 of the Framework provides three overarching 

objectives: economic, social and environmental.  

121. In terms of the economic objective the proposal would provide up to 120 

houses which would have benefits from their construction.  The housing land 
supply shortfall is substantial with little prospect for improvement. Paragraph 
60 of the Framework confirms the Government’s objective of significantly 

boosting the supply of homes.  

122. In terms of the social objective the Framework refers to the need to provide 

sufficient number and range of homes to meet the needs for present and future 

 
26 Figures 9.1a and 9.2a Local Plan 

Page 48

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/D3125/W/22/3297487 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          17 

generations. The housing land supply shortfall is substantial with little prospect 

for improvement, and there is a pressing need to increase supply with 
deliverable sites.  The proposal would provide a range of new homes, in terms 

of size, form and tenure. The proposal would also provide a significant quantum 
of new homes, which is particularly important bearing in mind the 
aforementioned shortage. 40% of the new homes would be affordable thereby 

providing for those in housing need and alleviating that shortfall.    

123. In terms of the environmental objective the proposal would lead to 

landscape and heritage harms as above however those would be limited and 
very limited, albeit the latter warrants great weight and importance. 
Conversely, the occupants of the dwellings would be close to facilities without 

reliance upon car use, thereby helping towards low carbon living as advocated 
in this criterion of paragraph 8.     

124. The appeal at 110 Witney Road was recently dismissed. However, this was 
for a single dwelling which had a different scale of planning benefits. In 
addition, the inadequate 5-year housing land supply shortfall was not evident 

at the time.  Moreover, that Inspector found, in any event, that: ‘I am not 
persuaded that the proposal would significantly increase the impression of 

coalescence between Ducklington and Witney and that, the resulting harm to 
the wider landscape would be no more than minor in terms of significance. 
Accordingly, I find that appeal does not lead me to a different decision.   

125. In the light of the above I therefore conclude that the adverse impacts of the 
proposal would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when 

assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole. The proposal 
therefore benefits from the presumption in favour of sustainable development. 
The benefits of the proposed development and presumption in favour of 

sustainable development in the context of the tilted balance therefore lead me 
to conclude that the appeal should be approved not in accordance with the 

development plan as material considerations indicate a decision otherwise is 
appropriate. 

Conditions 

126. Paragraph 56 of the Framework and the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 
provide the tests for the imposition of conditions. Both parties have 

collaborated on the suggested conditions and are in agreement.  

127. Rather than the standard 3 years for the submission of application(s) for 
reserved matters, the appellant suggests this could be reduced to 2 years. This 

would encourage the site’s implementation and support its contribution to the 
5-year housing land supply requirement, in accordance with paragraph 77 of 

the Framework.        

128. A condition is needed to confirm which details need to be the subject of 

reserved matters. Similarly, a condition lists the submitted and approved plans. 
Both these conditions help certainty.   

129. An archaeological recording condition was recommended following the site 

investigation. This would ensure that any heritage significance is properly 
recorded. This is worded as pre-commencement out of necessity.  

130. A Construction Method Statement is necessary to safeguard the reasonable 
living conditions of local residents. Some elements of the suggested 

Page 49

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/D3125/W/22/3297487 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          18 

Construction Traffic Management Plan condition partially overlap and are 

integrated into this one condition. Several elements go beyond the scope of 
planning control and are not included. The condition is worded as pre-

commencement to ensure that the required measures are in place from the 
outset. 

131. Whilst a tree survey has been undertaken measures are needed to ensure 

that these existing trees around the site’s boundaries are protected during 
construction. As I found earlier, they form an attractive backdrop to the site. 

This is worded as pre-commencement out of necessity.  

132. The landscaping details are a reserved matter, but a condition is needed on 
the timing of planting and any replacement of lost specimens. Similarly, a 

landscape management plan is also necessary as the scheme will include 
significant open space which should be managed appropriately to ensure its 

long-term value.       

133. A condition requiring details of biodiversity measures is necessary to ensure 
that the proposal delivers a positive gain, as in paragraph 179 of the 

Framework. The condition also extends into the future maintenance. Whilst 
several conditions are suggested, the measures can be encompassed in a re-

worded single condition simply requiring details and implementation.   

134. A condition is necessary to control external lighting to avoid disturbance to 
wildlife and limit light pollution as promoted by paragraph 185 of the 

Framework. This was also recommended in the 2021 Ecological Assessment 
Report.  The condition on electric car charging points is necessary to ensure 

provision is made and is unobtrusive to the scheme and convenient to the 
residents, whilst benefiting the wider environment.  Similarly, the condition on 
provision of the Travel Information Pack would help promote non vehicular use 

of local facilities.  

135. The condition on accessible and adaptable dwellings is necessary to ensure 

that the dwellings would be capable of meeting the everyday needs of the 
population as a whole. Similarly, this condition includes provision for self-
build/custom dwellings which is a particular need identified in paragraph 62 of 

the Framework.   

136. The connection to broadband facilities would be at the behest of potential 

suppliers and details were not provided over the practicalities of 
implementation. Therefore, there is no certainty that the suggested condition 
could be complied with and if so when. Accordingly, it is not imposed.   

137. A condition on surface water drainage is necessary to accommodate the 
additional water run-off from the new hard surfaces to avoid exacerbating 

flooding. The use of SUDS would be advantageous for the site’s appearance 
and biodiversity. Other suggested conditions duplicate this wide-ranging 

condition and are not so imposed. Conditions on wastewater and water 
connection are unnecessary as this would be provided by the supplier. 
Similarly, the suggested condition requiring submission of records showing 

SUDs implementation is unnecessary as the Local Planning Authority would be 
able to check themselves.  

138. A condition to investigate and potentially remediate land contamination is 
suggested. The field has been used for agriculture in the past and it is possible 

Page 50

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/D3125/W/22/3297487 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          19 

that some chemicals may have been used. This is warranted as a precaution to 

ensure the health of the new residents.     

139. As I found earlier the removal of the overhead power lines and their 

installation below ground would improve the appearance of the site and a 
condition on implementation is necessary. This is pre-commencement out of 
necessity and agreed by the appellant.   

Conclusion  

140. For the reasons set out above I conclude that the appeal should be allowed 

subject to the conditions in the annex below and all the obligations within the 
Section 106 agreement.  

John Longmuir     

INSPECTOR 

 

Appearances 

For the Council  

Mr Cain Ormondroyd   Counsel   

Mr Chris Wood            Senior Planner West Oxfordshire District Council  

 

For the Appellant 

Mr Killian Garvey                                    Counsel  

Mr Jeff Richards BA(Hons) MTP MTRPI       Senior Director Turley 

Mr James Stacey BA(Hons) Dip TP MRTPI  Director Tetlow King 

Mr Charles Mylchreest Dip LA CMLI AIEMA Director EDP 

Mr Edmund Stratford BA(Hons) MCIfA       Associate EDP 

 

Interested parties 

Ms Emma Morse Local resident 

Mr John Dunsdon Local resident 

Mr Mick Clack Local resident 

Ms Joyce Hussain Local resident 

Mr Matthew Barker Local resident  

Councillor Maynard   West Oxfordshire District Council   

Councillor Woodruff   West Oxfordshire District Council   

Oxfordshire County Council (for the Section 106 session)  

Page 51

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/D3125/W/22/3297487 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          20 

Mr Richard Oliver                     Infrastructure Funding Negotiator 

Mr Rashid Bbosa  MSc IHE        Senior Transport Planner 

 

Documents submitted during the Inquiry  

INQ1 appellant's opening submission 

INQ2 LPA opening submissions 

INQ3 Mr Barker's representations 

INQ4 Mr Maynard's representations 

INQ5 Letter from Mr and Mrs Clark 

INQ6 Letter from Mrs Waddoups  

INQ7 E-mail from Richard Oram, lead archaeologist OCC 

INQ8 E-mail exchanges regarding REEMA North  

INQ9 E-mail from Murray Burnett with updated affordable housing numbers 

INQ10 E-mail chain between Annie Gingell and Chris Hargreaves re FOI request 

INQ11 Further tables prepared by Mr Stacey 

INQ12 Written representation from Mr. Clark 

INQ13 Draft section 106 agreement 

INQ14 Draft conditions 

INQ15 Plan showing Ducklington parish boundary 
 
INQ16 Catesby Estates Ltd v Steer [2018] EWCA Civ 1697 

 
INQ17 Hallam Land Management Ltd v SSCLG [2018] EWCA Civ 1808 

 
INQ18 Email from Mr Witts on flood risk  
 

INQ19 CIL Compliance Statement from West Oxfordshire District Council  
 

INQ 20 Signed S106 agreement  
 

Conditions annexe 

1. Application(s) for approval of reserved matters shall be made to the Local 
Planning Authority before the expiration of two years from the date of this 

permission and the development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 
expiration of two years from the date of approval of the last reserved matters to be 
approved. 

2. Details of the appearance, landscaping, layout and scale (herein called the 
reserved matters) shall be submitted to and approved in writing to the Local 

Page 52

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/D3125/W/22/3297487 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          21 

Planning Authority before any development begins and the development shall be 

carried out only us approved. 

3. Applications for approval of reserved matters submitted pursuant to conditions 1 

and 2 shall be in accordance with the following plans:  site location plan drawing 
number 21_5503_01 and site access detail plan drawing number 3453-F01 rev D. 

4. Prior to commencement of development, including any clearance and 

preparatory works, an archaeological written scheme of investigation shall be 
prepared relating to the application site area, which will be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme of 
investigation shall be fully undertaken prior to the commencement of development. 

5. No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a 

Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The Statement shall provide for:  

• the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 

• the methods for accessing the site, including wider construction vehicle 
routing;  

• loading and unloading of plant and materials;  

• the management of waste materials; 

• storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;  

• the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative 
displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate;  

• the use of wheel washing facilities;  

• measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction;  

• a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 
construction works; 

• delivery, demolition and construction working hours; 

• details of appropriate signing, to accord with the necessary 
standards/requirements, for pedestrians during construction works, including 

any footpath diversions.  

The approved Construction Method Statement shall be adhered to throughout the 
construction period for the development.  

6. Prior to first occupation, a scheme for biodiversity measures and management, 
together with a timetable for implementation, shall be submitted to the Local 

Planning Authority for approval. The scheme shall be implemented in accordance 
with the approved details and the approved timetable. It shall be maintained 
thereafter in accordance with the approved management scheme. 

7. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping 
shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the 

occupation of the buildings or the completion of the development, whichever is the 
sooner; and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the 

completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 

Page 53

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/D3125/W/22/3297487 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          22 

diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size 

and species 

8. A landscape management plan setting out the management and maintenance 

responsibilities, including a timetable for actions, for all hard and soft landscape 
areas shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to 
first occupation of the development. The landscape management plan shall be 

carried out in accordance with the approved details and the approved timetable. 

9. No site clearance, preparatory work or development shall take place until a 

scheme for the protection of the retained trees (the tree protection plan) and the 
appropriate working methods (the arboricultural method statement) in accordance 
with paragraphs 5.5 and 6.1 of British Standard BS 5837: Trees in relation to 

design, demolition and construction - Recommendations (or in an equivalent British 
Standard if replaced) shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 

local planning authority. The scheme for the protection of the retained trees shall 
be carried out as approved. 

10. Prior to first occupation of the dwellings, a scheme to deliver electric charging 

points, together with a timetable for implementation, shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority for approval in writing. The scheme shall be fully 

implemented in accordance with the approved details and to the approved 
timetable. 

11. A Travel Information Pack shall be submitted to and approved by Local 

Planning Authority. The first residents of each dwelling shall be provided with a 
copy of the approved travel information pack prior to the first occupation of each 

dwelling. 

12. Prior to first occupation, a scheme for the external lighting shall be submitted 
to the Local Planning Authority for approval. Only external lighting in accordance 

with the approved scheme shall be installed. The external lighting shall be 
maintained and retained as approved thereafter. 

13. Prior to the commencement of development, a surface water drainage scheme 
for the site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the 
hydrological and hydro-geological context of the development, will be submitted to 

and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall 
subsequently be implemented in accordance with the approved details. The scheme 

shall also include: 

• A compliance report to demonstrate Standards and Guidance for Surface 
Water Drainage on Major Development with full drainage calculations for all 

events up to and including the 1 in 100 year plus 40% climate change;  

• A Flood Exceedance Conveyance Plan;  

• Comprehensive infiltration testing across the site to BRE DG 365 (if 
applicable); 

• Detailed design drainage layout drawings of the Sustainable Urban Drainage 
(SUDS) proposals including cross section details;  

• Detailed maintenance management plan in accordance with Section 32 of 

CIRIA C753 including maintenance schedules for each drainage element;  

Page 54

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/D3125/W/22/3297487 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          23 

• Details of how water quality will be managed during construction and post 

development in perpetuity;  

• Confirmation of any outfall details;  

• Consent for any connections required into third party drainage systems;  

• Maintenance plan for the surface water systems and  

• A timetable for phased implementation. 

14. No less than 25% of the dwellings hereby approved shall be adaptable 
dwellings designed to meet building regulations requirement M4 (2) and not less 

than 5% of the dwellings hereby approved shall meet the NPPF definition of self-
build or custom dwellings. 

15. Prior to the commencement of development a site investigation of the nature 

and extent of contamination shall be carried out in accordance with a methodology 
which has been previously submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. The results of the site investigation shall be made available to 
Local Planning Authority before any development begins. If any significant 
contamination is found during the site investigation, a remediation scheme 

specifying the measures to be taken to remediate the site to render it suitable for 
development together with a programme for such works, shall be submitted to the 

Local Planning Authority for approval in writing. 

Any remediation scheme as agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, shall 
be fully implemented in accordance with the approved timetable of works. On 

completion of such works the developer shall submit to the Local Planning 
Authority written confirmation that all works were completed in accordance with 

the agreed details. If during the course of development any contamination is found 
which has not been identified in the site investigation additional measures for 
remediation of the contamination shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 

the Local Planning Authority. The remediation of the site shall incorporate the 
additional approved measures. 

16. Prior to the commencement of development, a scheme to place the overhead 
power lines across the extent of the appeal site (as shown by the red line on the 
site location plan) and remove the existing above ground power lines, shall be 

submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval, including a timetable for 
such works. The overhead power lines shall be placed underground, and the 

overhead lines removed, in accordance with the approved details and approved 
timetable.  

End of conditions 

Page 55

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


This page is intentionally left blank



          

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Dear Sir / Madam 

 

West Oxfordshire District Council recently undertook consultation of our new validation 

checklists, and we are pleased to advise you that the consultation was positive and we can 

now progress with implementing the new checklists.  

 

Please be advised that the new checklists will be available for use from the 1st February 

2023. This should give you sufficient time to review any upcoming applications that may be 

submitted following this date. Please be aware, that from the 1st February 2023, the current 

validation checklist for your application type will no longer be sufficient, and applications still 

working to this criteria risk being sent back as invalid.  

 

We are required to review and consult on our checklists every two years, as is every local 

authority, and we believe that we have taken this opportunity to create a much more 

informative, streamlined and relevant checklist, that takes into account the needs of the 

applicant alongside important factors such as biodiversity, climate change, sustainability 

amongst others. I hope you find that the new checklists enable you to provide quality, and 

successful applications, that are valid and can move through the consideration process as 

quickly as possible.  

 

Key areas for improvement and benefits 

 

A lot has changed and improved in our checklists to bring our requirements inline with 

national standards and legislation, take into account changes to other agencies 

requirements, local plan policies and also key areas of focus such as climate, biodiversity, 

sustainability and healthy place shaping. Below are a few examples of some of the changes 

we have made, although this is not an exhaustive list. 

 

Biodiversity - It is key that we protect our wildlife and biodiversity. To ensure that this is 

considered at the beginning of a proposal we want applicants to complete a self assessment 

form for all applications which will guide the applicant and case officer to assess whether or 

not environmental surveys are required. We are also streamlining the reports that we will 

accept, to ensure that the highest standards have been met for ecological protection and 

enhancement and that all areas of biodiversity have been considered holistically. For each 

report we are also asking that a ‘Declaration of Adequacy’ is submitted which will need to be 

completed by the specialist ecologist completing the survey, to confirm that this has been 

achieved.  

 

West Oxfordshire District Council 

Woodgreen 

Witney  

OX28 1NB 

22/12/2022 

Page 57

Agenda Item 9



Climate sustainability - sustainability statement is now required. A climate and ecological 

emergency has been declared, and we need to demonstrate that consideration has been 

made during the application process as early as possible, ensuring that it can achieve high 

standards of sustainability. To do this, we are asking applicants to submit a sustainability 

statement which sets out compliance against a range of standards, including areas such as 

water use and flood risk, green and active travel, biodiversity, net zero carbon and energy 

performance and sustainable construction and waste. Please see the web page with 

information on our checklists and detailed guides on what needs to be provided for your 

application type.  

 

Healthy place shaping - We want to ensure we have healthy neighbourhoods, therefore we 

are requiring an increased focus on achieving highly accessible developments, improving 

key services, employment and outdoor space. We want to look at how residents can access 

these, such as looking at walking and cycling routes and public transport. Our requirements 

now ask that major applications (at a minimum) provide a Health Impact Assessment 

outlining how the development meets these needs 

 

From the 1st February 2023, our new checklists will be available on our website. The 

checklists will also be available on the Planning Portal.  

 

Kind Regards 

 

The Planning Team 

 

 

Page 58



Explanatory Note 
 
Oxfordshire County Council is responsible for a document called the Definitive Map 
and Statement which is the legal record of all known public rights of way in the 
County. There are a number of ways a public right of way can be recorded on the 
Definitive Map and Statement. One of these is evidence of public use over a 
significant period of time (usually 20 years) which was without permission, force or 
secrecy. 

 
This notice means that the Landowner has submitted a document known as a 
Highways Statement to Oxfordshire County Council. The document makes it clear 
that the landowner acknowledges the public rights of way recorded on their land and 
that at the time of making the deposit they do not wish to dedicate any other ways 
over the land shown with coloured edging on the accompanying map. This may 
prevent unrecorded public rights of way from being recorded on the Definitive Map 
and Statement on the basis of presumed dedication in the future. More information 
on this can be found at:  www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/landownerdeposits. 

 
If routes are already recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement for Oxfordshire 
(relevant date 21st February 2006) available online at 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/definitivemaponline then they are unaffected by the 
application received by Oxfordshire County Council under s31(6) Highways Act 
1980. 

 
Rights of way may already exist that are not recorded on the Definitive Map and 
Statement. If you believe routes are used that are not recorded on the Definitive Map 
and Statement and meet the legal tests for recording a public right of way then you 
can apply for a Definitive Map Modification Order (DMMO). For more information on 
this please see: https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/modificationsanddiversions. 

 
The Landowner has also submitted an application to deposit a statement under 
Section 15A(1) Commons Act 2006. This statement prevents the land from being 
registered as a Town or Village Green in the future. If you think land affected by this 
statement should be registered as a town or village green you have one year from 
the date of deposit to make an application. 

Page 59

Agenda Item 10

http://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/landownerdeposits
http://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/definitivemaponline
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/modificationsanddiversions


This page is intentionally left blank



 
Form CA17 

 
Notice of landowner deposits under section 31(6) of the Highways Act 1980 and 
section 15A(1) of the Commons Act 2006 
 
Oxfordshire County Council 
 
An application to deposit a map and statement under section 31(6) Highways Act 
1980 and deposit a statement under section 15A(1) Commons Act 2006 has been 
made in relation to the land described below and shown edged red on the 
accompanying map.  
 
PLEASE NOTE: 
 
This deposit may affect rights over the land described below. Deposits made 
under section 31(6) of the Highways Act 1980 may prevent deemed dedication 
of public rights of way over such land under section 31(1) of that Act. Deposits 
made under section 15A(1) of the Commons Act 2006 may affect the ability to 
register such land as a town or village green under section 15 of that Act. 
Please see guidance at http://www.defra.gov.uk/rural/protected/greens/ for 
further information. 
 
Description of the lands: Land owned by The Oxford Diocesan Board of Finance. 
 
Name of the Parish, Ward or District in which the land(s) is situated: The Parish of 
Shrivenham, Kingham, Churchill, Westcote Barton, Shipton under Wychwood, 
Fritwell, Witney, Chalbury, Bampton. 
 
The deposit was submitted by The Oxford Diocesan Board of Finance and was 
received by this authority on 6th July 2022. 
 
The authority maintains a register of maps, statements and declarations deposited 
under section 31A of the Highways Act 1980 and section 15B of the Commons Act 
2006. 
 
Oxfordshire County Council, Definitive Map & Commons, County Hall, New Road, 
Oxford, OX1 1ND between the hours of 9.00am to 4.30pm, Monday – Friday. Please 
call 07741607604 or send an email to landownerdeposits@oxfordshire.gov.uk if you 
have any queries relating to this Notice. 
This register & plan can be accessed online at:                              
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/landownerdeposits 
                                                                                                         

 
 
Tom Scholes, Group Manager Asset Data & Systems, Communities Directorate 
Oxfordshire County Council  
 
Dated 23rd August 2022 

Page 61

http://www.defra.gov.uk/rural/protected/greens/
http://www.defra.gov.uk/rural/protected/greens/
mailto:landownerdeposits@oxfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:landownerdeposits@oxfordshire.gov.uk
http://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/landownerdeposits
http://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/landownerdeposits


This page is intentionally left blank



a,0C(0CLi.0-o(00ccC0ii4,
00aV0‘C

C4,

C-)

t
C

C
0

LL
0C

C-
-

_s

(N0(N0(N

C
4)

0
)

O
n

o
-
j

L
’)

W
(N

-
-

-
0%
cc

0(00

E

0(N0

P
age 63



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Reply to : Naomi Hunt
Tel :  01993 861000
Email: ers@westoxon.gov.uk

The Parish Council Your Ref:

Date:

W/22/01158/PAVLIC

16th January 2023

Dear Parish Clerk,

BUSINESS AND PLANNING ACT 2020

Application for Pavement Licence

We have received an application for 1863 Cafe Bar Corn Exchange 19 Market Square Witney 
Oxfordshire OX28 6AB    under the Business and Planning Act 2020.

The application can be viewed through the online Public Access Portal. If you would like to make formal 
representation, the closing date is 20th January 2023.

Please ensure that all email correspondence is sent to ers@westoxon.gov.uk.  

Yours faithfully

Licensing Team
Environmental and Regulatory Services

West Oxfordshire District Council may share information provided to it with other bodies responsible for auditing or 
administering public funds in order to prevent and detect fraud under Section 6 of the Audit Commission Act 1998

Page 65

Agenda Item 11

https://publicaccess.westoxon.gov.uk/online-applications/login.jsp
mailto:ers@westoxon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Application for a Pavement Licence Homepage |Privacy statement 
Please check and confirm the information below. REFERENCE: 

WOD_PAVLIC_00055699 

Correct these details
 

Application type APPLY 

Submission date 2023-01-13  

Licence cost £0.000 

Application reference number WOD_PAVLIC_00055699 

Licence will expire undefined 

Trading name 1863 Cafe Bar 

Licence cost £0.00 

Applicant address Witney Town Council, Town Hall, Market Square, Witney, Oxfordshire, OX28 6AG 

Applicant telephone 01993 704379 

Applicant email accounts@witney-tc.gov.uk 

Premises address Corn Exchange, 19 Market Square, Witney, Oxfordshire, OX28 6AB 

Premises telephone number 01993 704379 

Business premises use Both uses 

Description of the area Market Square outside Corn Exchange 

Monday start time 08:00 

Tuesday start time 08:00 

Wednesday start time 08:00 

Thursday start time 17:00 

Friday start time 08:00 

Saturday start time 17:00 

Sunday start time 08:00 

Monday finish time 22:00 

Tuesday finish time 22:00 

Wednesday finish time 22:00 

Thursday finish time 22:00 

Friday finish time 22:00 

Saturday finish time 22:00 

Sunday finish time 22:00 

Furniture purpose Both purposes 

Description of the furniture Black tables and chairs 

Do you intend to alter any of the building 
and / or frontage to accommodate this proposal? 

No 

Correspondence title Mr 

Correspondence first name Tomas 

Correspondence last name Smith 

Correspondence telephone 07535 829952 

Correspondence email tomas.smith@witney-tc.gov.uk 

Correspondence address Corn Exchange, Market Square, Witney OX28 6AB 

Uploaded file 01 WTC_PLI.pdf 

Uploaded file 02 Furniture_one.jpg 

Uploaded file 03 Furniture_two.jpg 

Uploaded files 3 

Page 67

http://www.westoxon.gov.uk/
http://www.westoxon.gov.uk/support/terms,-conditions-privacy/


I agree - the above declaration is correct true 

Licence will expire undefined 

Correspondence address Corn Exchange, Market Square, Witney OX28 6AB 

 

 
 

Contact details associated with this submission 

 

First name Linda 

Last name Souch 

Phone 01993 704379 

Email accounts@witney-tc.gov.uk 

Address Witney Town Council, Town Hall, Market Square, Witney, Oxfordshire, OX28 6AG 

 

 
 

If you are happy with the details here please continue by clicking the button 
below. 

Proceed to payment
 

 

Page 68



 

 

P
age 69

TomasSmith
Sticky Note
Proposed Seating area


TomasSmith_1
Sticky Note
Location of Corn Exchange



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



Make swift bricks compulsory in new housing to help red-listed 

birds

Swifts have declined by over 50% in the UK. Adult swifts, known for 

site-fidelity, return to the same nests. We want swift bricks to be 

required in all new housing, to provide homes for these birds. Surveys 

show these are used by red-listed swifts, house martins, starlings and 

house sparrows.

Swifts spend more time airborne than any other bird, sometimes only 

landing when returning to their nests in our walls, from Africa. They're 

tidy and quiet neighbours but modern building methods block swifts 

out.

The metric for calculating biodiversity net gain doesn't include existing 

nest sites in buildings, or swift bricks, but these bricks can be designed 

into buildings without conflicting with insulation, and should be made a 

requirement for new housing.

Iconic and irreplaceable, swifts define our summers. Please help them. 

The RSPB supports this petition.

We are inadvertently blocking swifts out 

of their homes by filling up their small 

nesting holes in our walls. When swifts 

return in Spring, they try endlessly to get 

back in, often fatally breaking their wings. 

If they survive, they can only breed if they 

manage to find another nesting site, so 

unsuccessful pairs are unable to contribute 

to their plummeting population. Swift 

bricks have been installed by the King  

when his majesty was the Duchy of 

Cornwall, with useful survey results. 

Leading scientists, ecological advisors to 

the government, and sustainable building 

assessors, have created and approved the 

petition. Notable politicians including 

Caroline Lucas MP are actively supporting 

the petition. This is a simple solution that 

directly seeks to counter biodiversity loss 

in the UK, by positively effecting 4 red 

listed species of British birds, our very 

closest urban neighbours.

The Problem
A solution (petition) 

https://petition.parliament.uk/petitions/626737

For queries, please contact Hannah Bourne-Taylor hannahbournetaylor.com 

Petition deadline: 30th

April. 

Target: 100,000 

signatures for 

parliamentary debate.

Task: if everyone who 

signs gets 3 people to 

sign, we can do it! 

P
age 73

A
genda Item

 12



Mike Priaulx, sustainable buildings consultant and BREEAM assessor:

‘The benefits of swift bricks are highlighted by National Planning Policy Guidance (Natural Environment 2019 Paragraph 023), and some local authorities have taken 

this on board and have included strong requirements for swift bricks in their planning policies, but others have overlooked this item of the guidance, or the cycle of 

their planning policies development means it will be many years before they will update them. Therefore, a requirement for swift bricks to accompany the 

requirement for Biodiversity Net Gain is essential if we are to quickly and consistently create habitats suitable for our endangered urban birds.’

RSPB Exec Director, Emma Marsh:

'Swifts are one of many species desperately in need of our help. More than half have disappeared from UK skies in just 20 years, partly because of a lack of suitable 

nesting sites. Community groups, and forward-thinking developers and local planning authorities, have already created thousands of new homes for swifts but 

governments also need to play their part. As Hannah Bourne-Taylor's amazing campaign highlights, swift bricks should be compulsory in all new housing 

developments. I would urge everyone to sign this petition to help ensure swifts and other species that have traditionally nested in the cavities of our buildings have a 

safe home to return to every year.'

Swift expert, Anders Hedenström, Ecologist, Lund University:

‘It would be a really good idea to make it compulsory to install swift nests when constructing new buildings because swifts are highly philopatric. It is thanks to their 

site fidelity we can study swifts using various types of data loggers, which we must retrieve after one year to get the data about migrations and flight behavior. Swifts 

will, in most cases, return to breed year after year, and some may be up to 20 years.’

King Charles II:

‘I admire them and I love them; for me, the world would come to an end if the swallows, swifts and house martins didn’t come back.’

P
age 74



Dear Mrs Groth, 
 
I am an Enstone resident and Parish Councillor and I wondered whether you would be able to raise 
the petition that I have created, to help swifts who are facing national extinction, at your next 
council meeting and if you are able, share with your parish if you have a newsletter or public notice 
board. The petition is supported by the RSPB and has been created and approved by leading 
scientists, sustainable building assessors, Oxford zoology professors and ecological advisors to the 
government. It is one of the fastest growing petitions on the government platform and Caroline 
Lucas MP, among other notable people, have publicly supported it. Some Districts and City councils 
have already passed motions to make swift bricks compulsory in their new developments but I am 
hoping that by trickle-up support, WODC may also feel more inclined to agree - I believe they are 
open to it, but would like to gather as much support as possible for these iconic birds.  
Make swift bricks compulsory in new housing to help red-listed birds - Petitions (parliament.uk) 
Please find the petition link above and attached, a newsletter with a bit more explanation as the 
petition wording was hugely restricted by word count.  

Page 75

https://petition.parliament.uk/petitions/626737


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Planning Responses from WTC 15.11.22, 15/11/2022 Climate, Biodiversity & Planning
	Minutes , 06/12/2022 Climate, Biodiversity & Planning
	Planning Responses from WTC 06.12.22, 06/12/2022 Climate, Biodiversity & Planning
	Minutes , 03/01/2023 Climate, Biodiversity & Planning
	Planning Responses from WTC 03.01.23, 03/01/2023 Climate, Biodiversity & Planning

	5 Planning Applications
	6 Planning Decisions
	7 Planning Appeal Decision Notification - 13 Willowbank, Witney
	8 Planning Appeal Decision Notification - Land at Witney Road, Ducklington, Oxfordshire
	9 West Oxfordshire District Council Validation for Planning Applications
	10 Notice of Definitive Map Notice of landowner deposit
	Notice, 10/10/2022 Full Council
	Statement Plan 9, 10/10/2022 Full Council

	11 Licensing Application Consultation - W/22/01158/PAVLIC - The Corn Exchange, Market Square
	Application Details
	Floor Plan
	Furniture Photograph

	12 A Petition to Government to Protect the Swift Population
	Letter to WTC regarding Swift Petition




